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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)      

Directors

The details of Directors of the Company during the year, and to the date of this report are:

Executive Chairman 

Executive Director & Company Secretary 

Dickory Rudduck Executive Director - Appointed 14 May 2010 

Non–Executive Director - Resigned 31 May 2010

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year were:

Operating Results

The Directors of TZ Limited present their report on the consolidated entity (Group), consisting of TZ Limited and its 
controlled entities for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.

(i) The development of intelligent devices and smart device systems that enable the commercialisation 
of hardware and software solutions for the management, control and monitoring of business assets and 
the provision of associated value added services through Telezygology Inc (TZI). 

(ii) Providing a fee for service product design and engineering consulting through Product Development 
Technologies Inc (PDT).

Mark Bouris

Kenneth Ting

Willem de Vlugt

All of the operations of the consolidated entity are based in the United States of America, United Kingdom and 
Ukraine.
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Directors commentary on operating results:

The Directors have also faced numerous challenges with regards to the lack of adequate books and records for the 
Company. However, they remain committed to the task of justifying the financial statements and presenting records 
that are a true and fair representation of the Company, and are in accordance with all applicable accounting 
standards. Refer Note 4 for further details of adjustments made to prior year numbers.

The Company has achieved significant milestones during the past year since the new Board was appointed, 
successfully re-listing the company and securing an additional facility with QVT to allow it to continue to fund 
operations, while also dealing with litigation on numerous fronts. The Company’s financial position was also 
substantially strengthened through the debt to equity swap with QVT.

The Company’s reputation and relationships with major suppliers, joint development partners and customers was 
repaired and strengthened through the hard work of both senior management and the Board members to bring back 
confidence and establish strong business platforms and strategies to build upon.

The Company was also able to secure interim funding to enable the development of new product offerings to support 
current market participation. This investment has been valuable and has made the significant difference between TZ 
being a viable company going forward and being the company in June 2009 that was teetering on failure.

The Board has also focused its attentions on the under-performing TZI business and has worked to develop a go-
forward business strategy following a detailed business review which involved scrutinizing past strategies, identifying 
resource needs to capitalize on the growth opportunities and marshalling the right leadership with the capacity, 
backbone and determination to make this Company a success. 

The operating loss after income tax for the year ended 30 June 2010 for the consolidated entity was $26,347,322 
(2009: $24,408,497).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)      

Overview of Operations

Infrastructure Protection, Inc. (IXP)

(i)   Infrastructure Protection, Inc. provides affordable and highly scalable micro-security and environmental 
monitoring solutions that deliver protection and control of IT and telecommunication assets.

(ii)   Packaged Asset Delivery, Inc. offers innovative logistics solutions that automate "last mile" parcel delivery 
for customers across a range of usage scenarios, including corporate mail management, management of 
parcel delivery for high density residential complexes and automated secure parcel pick-up at retail outlets.

(iii)    Aerospace Asset Maintainability, Inc. seeks to license IP and technology to aerospace and defence 
OEMs enabling the development of intelligent latching systems that provide for remote access control, audit 
and traceability of aerospace assets. 

In April 2009, TZI established a joint development relationship with Anixter International Inc. (Anixter) to develop a 
cabinet level security solution for the IT and data centre market. This solution, now marketed as the TZ Praetorian™ 
system was launched in September 2009 and is exclusively distributed by Anixter world-wide. The development of 
this new system was undertaken to meet a perceived need in the market as identified by Anixter customer feedback.

A beta version of its new TZ Centurion™ Server scalable software platform based on Microsoft technology has been 
also released for initial pilot testing. The new infrastructure software enables TZI’s data center customers to protect 
their large scale, multi-site, and remote IT assets. The introduction of this significant new and associated software 

Following the launch of the TZ Praetorian™ system in late April of this year, TZI launched its stand-alone TZ 
Centurion™ System at the InterOp Business Technology Expo in Las Vegas. Interest for this System solution has 
been strong and a number of beta site installations have been deployed. Early adopter clients include installations 
with institutional, government and telecommunication customers including Washington University Genome, the 
Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints in Utah, the State of Nebraska, and BlueLock Cloud Hosting.

TZI was re-structured in May 2010 with the appointment of one of the original founders, John Wilson, to  Chief 
Executive Officer to drive the business forward. Three autonomous business units were defined, each dedicated to 
delivering specific infrastructure hardware and software solutions to targeted market segments:
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Packaged Asset Delivery, Inc. (PAD)

The IXP business strategy has been focused on establishing TZ solutions as being the dominant brand for micro-
protection at the rack and cabinet enclosure level providing total hardware and software suite of products that can 
deliver security, monitoring and compliance at an affordable level. Accordingly, IXP has embarked on three business 
initiatives that the Directors believe will support significant sales growth:

(i)   Penetration within the existing market segment through geographic expansion from the predominant US 
centric business focus into a global business with supporting sales infrastructure in Europe, Asia and Australia.

(ii)   Expansion into new market segments with new and existing infrastructure solutions such as into 
Healthcare and Entertainment where similar customer needs have been identified.

(iii)   Value added product extensions to better serve existing data centre customers including B2B web portal 
integration, development of new sensors and capabilities and integration with in-cabinet micro-surveillance 
cameras.

their large scale, multi-site, and remote IT assets. The introduction of this significant new and associated software 
offering represents a major milestone in TZI’s ability to deliver a high value add software solution to compliment 
previous hardware oriented offerings.

In August 2009, TZI entered into a reseller agreement with International Office Products Cooperative (IOPC) to 
develop and commercialise an intelligent and secure mail delivery and exchange system for the corporate client 
market. This system is now marketed as TZ Courier™.

In June of this year, IOPC secured a supply relationship with Pitney Bowes Management Services, Inc. (PBMS) for a 
custom designed TZ Courier™ system comprising a standard 28 locker module. The system has been formally 
launched by PBMS and is currently marketed to PBMS’ corporate managed mail services clients as their Intelligent 
Locker System.

30



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)      

Overview of Operations (continued)

Packaged Asset Delivery, Inc. (PAD) (continued)

Aerospace Asset Maintainability, Inc.

Prospective AAM commercialization partners, by their nature, will progress down a relatively conservative path likely 
to involve the following stages:

The Directors believe that the participation of PBMS provides a solid foundation to create a dominant offering to the 
corporate mail segment and drive sales growth for TZ Courier™.

The first successful PBMS commercial implementation was installed at Safeway Inc. (NYSE:SWY) headquarters in 
Pleasanton, California in May 2010. Further orders are anticipated as PBMS rolls out the system to an extensive 
client base that includes major insurance agencies, healthcare providers, colleges and universities, banks, 
government agencies and Fortune 500 companies.

Outside of the corporate mail sector, PAD is in the process of extending the current platform infrastructure to enable 
new offerings into new market segments where similar customer needs prevail. An offer to the high density 
residential market, to be marketed as TZ Concierge™, is anticipated in the near term.

There has been significant investment in the development of aerospace compliant intelligent latching and fastening 
systems and in establishing relationships with OEM and tier suppliers over the last six (6) years.

Due to heavy compliance and regulatory requirements in the Aerospace and Defence industries, the Directors 
believe that the most prospective avenue to commercialize TZI technology is in partnership with major OEM 
enablers and the Aerospace Asset Maintainability business unit (AAM) has been specifically established to pursue 
this path forward.

Under the supply agreement between IOPC and PBMS, IOPC supplies the locker systems with integrated TZI 
electronic locking and control hardware including application software.  Value added services such as software 
customization, system maintenance and remote technical support are provided by the PAD business unit to PBMS 
and its corporate clients.
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Market Validation:

License Relationship:

Initially, commercialisation partners will seek to embark on development projects designed to validate the 
technology in specific application areas and to test commercial and technical feasibility. It is envisaged that the 
AAM business unit will enter into a collaborative development partnership with these enablers to develop a 
number of application concepts utilizing the technology. These concepts would then be test marketed with 
prospective customers to gauge the level of commercial interest. In forming these relationships, AAM will seek 
to establish commercial terms whereby these enablers would fund AAM to undertake these development tasks 
for a fixed project fee or contribution thereto.

Once commercially validated, and prior to these enablers progressing to product commercialization, it is 
envisaged that these enablers will seek to gain a proprietary hold on the exploitation of the technology more 
than likely on an exclusive basis for a defined application area and territory. AAM will seek to formulate 
licensing and commercial deals on the following terms:

(i) Upfront payment for the exclusive intellectual property rights to exploit the technology;

(iii) On-going hardware royalties and software maintenance fees based on a percentage of AAM 
licensed product and software sales.

(ii) Direct supply of actuators and licensing of elements of the software;

to involve the following stages:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)      

Overview of Operations (continued)

Intanova

PDT

Conclusion

PDT has continued to perform well and be profitable despite the weak world economy, posting strong numbers that 
exceeded its initial plan by 13%, and expanding its customer base with a healthy mix of Medical (51%), 
Military/Public Safety (20%) and Consumer Goods (29%). 

Contrary to current US unemployment figures, PDT has also been able to hire several new positions, expanding its 
service offerings in the areas of Product Strategy, Military Project Management and Software Development.

PDT's design and development work has continued to win recognition and awards, including Design Journal's 
Platinum "Award for Design Excellence" (ADEX) for the S1 Audio NxSET (tm) Neck Level Headphone Set, and 
Design Journal's Platinum "Award for Design Excellence" (ADEX) for the Chiron Technology Iris Touch 200 IP 
Security Dialler Interface, bringing the total awards to nine for the fiscal year.

The Directors would like to thank the TZ and PDT operations team lead by John Wilson and Mark Schwartz for their 
dedicated contributions.

Special thanks is extended to our shareholders for their support and patience so the Directors could to do what was 

The Directors successfully resolved a long-standing dispute between TZI and Techbuilt Interiors Pty Limited in 
relation to licencing rights pertaining to TZI’s FutureWall System and associated IP and technology.

As a result a newly incorporated joint venture company, Intanova Pty Limited (“Intanova”), was established to 
leverage the existing awareness and acceptance of the FutureWall System in the marketplace. Intanova now carries 
on the business of marketing, supply and installation of interior fit-out solutions in Australia and New Zealand. The 
business is also actively seeking broader licensing and commercialisation opportunities for the FutureWall System in 
new territories.
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Significant Changes in State of Affairs

Likely Developments

Dividends

The Directors feel the constructive developments over the past year are significant steps towards building the TZI 
business fitness, supporting PDT growth and to delivering positive near term results for the Company.

Special thanks is extended to our shareholders for their support and patience so the Directors could to do what was 
absolutely required to secure and stabilise the company.

During the year the Group issued 13,369,048 fully paid ordinary shares. Of this total 13,250,000 were issued to QVT 
in accordance with resolution 9 from the 2009 AGM, as full consideration for 12,000 $1,000 Series I convertible 
notes, and $1,250,000 in other liabilities owing to QVT as a result of expense payments that had been made on 
behalf of the Group. The remaining 119,048 fully paid ordinary shares were issued at $0.42 each to raise $50,000. 

The particular information required by s299 (1) of the Corporations Act (2002) has not been included in this report, 
as the inclusion of such information is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

No dividend has been paid or declared since the commencement of the financial year (2009: nil). The Directors do 
not recommend the payment of a dividend.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)      

Information on Directors

Mr Mark Bouris

Chairman and Executive Director

Mr Bouris is the founder and Chairman of Yellow Brick Road (YBR), a financial advisory firm. The primary function of 
YBR is providing financial advice and accounting services. YBR owns a number of accounting practices and one 
legal practice. In addition, it owns financial planning businesses and insurance broking businesses. YBR advises a 

Australian Financial Investments Group Ltd made a major acquisition in 2002 from ABN Amro Australia Limited 
when it acquired Australian Mortgage Securities Ltd (AMS). AMS was a global leader in issuance of Residential 
Mortgage Backed Securities. Following the acquisition of AMS, Mr Bouris chaired that part of the business and 
attended the global road shows in raising those funds.

In 2004, General Electric acquired the Australian Financial Investments Group Ltd, and its subsidiary company 
Wizard Home Loans Ltd, from companies associated with Mr Bouris, Publishing and Broadcasting Ltd, E Corp 
Limited, Deutsche Asset Management Ltd (representing four Australian Industry funds) and ABN Amro Australia 
Limited. Mr Bouris was retained as non-executive chairman by General Electric until February 2009 when his tenure 
terminated.

In July 2004 Mr Bouris was appointed Adjunct Professor (Banking & Finance and Business Law & Tax) at the 
University of NSW and also sits on the Australian School of Business Advisory Council Board. He is also an industry 
leader on consumer protection issues, having chaired the Federal Government's enquiry into E-Commerce and 
consumer protection in 2001.

Mr Bouris has been involved in the finance and property sectors for over 25 years. In 1996 he founded Wizard Home 
Loans – which became one of Australia's largest non-bank lenders. From1996 to 2004 Mr Bouris introduced four 
substantial capital partners to that business. The money was raised with subscription from Publishing and 
Broadcasting Ltd, E Corp Limited, Deutsche Asset Management Ltd (representing four Australian Industry funds) 
and ABN Amro Australia Limited. All of these entities became equal shareholders in the group holding company 
Australian Financial Investments Group Ltd. Each of the above shareholders had two board seats and Mr Bouris was 
executive chairman.
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Interests in Shares & Options

Ordinary Shares 800,000 Rights 800,000 Options 3,000,000    

Mr Kenneth Ting

Executive Director and Company Secretary

Interests in Shares & Options

Ordinary Shares 672,725 Rights 600,000 Options 2,250,000    

legal practice. In addition, it owns financial planning businesses and insurance broking businesses. YBR advises a 
range of clients from small business to large business in most aspect of finace, tax, fund raising, accounting and 
audit. Mr Bouris is a fellow at the Institure of Chartered Accountants and YBR has 40 professionally qualified staff in 
its Sydney head office , along with a growing retail network of 35 licenced distributors throughout Australia.

Mr Ting has a passion for technology and has worked with technology companies throughout his career. He has 
been involved in the completion of over $5 Billion in M&A, private equity and IPO assignments in Australia, USA and 
Europe. His industry specialisation is in the electronics manufacturing, software, IT services, telecommmunication 
and Internet sectors. 

Mr Ting holds a Bachelor of Commerce and Bachelor of Law with First Class Honors from Adelaide University and is 
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants. Mr Ting is currently an Associate Director of Nextec Strategic 
Capital, a Technology Investment Banking firm based in Sydney. He is also a director of an international 
telecommunications company which he founded in 2002.

Mr Kenneth Ting has a background in accounting, law and investment banking with a focus on the commercialisation 
of technology and public and private equity raisings. Mr Ting joined Deutsche Bank in 1997 after 4 years at 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Corporate Finance and Tax division. He was Vice President of Technology Investment 
Banking at Deutsche Bank and worked in Deutsche Bank's Sydney, San Francisco and London offices. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)      

Information on Directors (continued)

Dickory Rudduck

Executive Director

Interests in Shares & Options

Ordinary Shares 992,498 Options -                  

Directors Meetings

The number of Directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Company 
during the financial year were:

Mr. Rudduck is a prolific inventor and is the founder and source behind TZ Limited's technology and thinking.  An 
Architect by profession, Mr. Rudduck established and built a successful Sydney based industrial architectural 
practice over a 20-year consulting career.

Mr. Rudduck is recognised as a respected industrial and interior designer with past corporate clients such as 
Deloitte and Touche, Barclays Bank, Warners and Alcatel.  At one stage, Mr. Rudduck managed the design of over 
one million square metres of industrial space for Slough Estates, one of the largest industrial property developers in 
the world.

The success of his consulting practice enabled Mr. Rudduck to focus on his interest in innovation and invention and 
allowed him to establish Intellectual Exchange Pty Ltd in 1996, with the objective of developing intellectual property 
with global relevance and application.  Since then, Mr. Rudduck has successfully commercialised many of his 
creations, the most lucrative being patented furniture systems with revenues in excess of $40 Million.  He has 
explored a diverse range of patented concepts from electronic hardware and software developments, building and 
construction systems to even sporting inventions.  Some of his innovations include an on-board video switch and 
software for the IBM PC, a low cost housing solution for developing countries and a multi-functional golf tee that 
integrates a pencil and eraser within the “tee” form.

34

Mark Bouris 7 7

Kenneth Ting 7 7

Willem de Vlugt 5 5

Dickory Rudduck 2 2

No. of 
Meetings 

Held

No. of 
Meetings 
Attended

during the financial year were:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Report - Audited

The Remuneration Report is set out under the following mainheadings:

1.     Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

2.     Details of remuneration

3.     Services agreements

4.     Share–based compensation

1. Principles Used To Determine The Nature And Amount Of Remuneration

(i)   Set competitive remuneration packages to attract and retain high calibre employees;

(ii)  Link executive rewards to shareholder value creation; and

(iii) Establish appropriate demanding performance hurdles for variable executive remuneration.

The Board reviews and is responsible for the Group’s remuneration policies, procedures and practices.

The remuneration report for the year ended 30 June 2009 has been prepared using the limited books and records 
available. 30 June 2010 information was readily available and has been confirmed with key managment personnel. 

The performance of the consolidated Group depends upon the quality of the Directors and Executives. The 
philosophy of the Directors in determining remuneration levels is to:

At the 2009 AGM approval was granted to establish the Director and Executive Equity Plan to attract, retain, 
motivate and reward senior executives and Directors (including non-executive Directors) of the Company 

Remuneration policies have not been directly linked to the company’s performance in the past. As a result of 
resolution 11 from the 2009 AGM, the Company has now introduced a Director and Executive Equity Plan to attract, 
retain, motivate and reward senior executives and Directors, including non-executive Directors, of the Company.
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(a) Non–Executive Directors’ Remuneration

Fixed remuneration

The constitution provides that the remuneration of Non– Executive Directors will not be more than the aggregate 
fixed sum determined by a general meeting of shareholders. The aggregate remuneration has been set at an 
amount of $500,000 per annum, which had been set at the annual general meeting of shareholders held on 30 
November 2006.

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Group with the ability to attract and 
retain Directors of a high calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.

The ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of Non–Executive Directors shall be determined 
from time-to-time by a general meeting. The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by 
shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned amongst Directors is reviewed annually. The Board 
considers advice from shareholders, and takes into account the fees paid to Non–Executive Directors of 
comparable companies, when undertaking the annual review process.

The structure of Non–Executive Director and Executive Director remuneration is separate and distinct as follows:

motivate and reward senior executives and Directors (including non-executive Directors) of the Company 
(collectively the "Participants") by issuing either or both Rights and Options to the Participants to allow the 
Participants to acquire fully paid ordinary class shares in the Company upon exercising the Rights or Options, as 
the case may be. The exercise of each Right or Option entitles the holder of that Right or Option, as the case may 
be, to acquire one fully paid ordinary class share in the capital of the Company.

Under the Director and Executive Equity Plan, the number of Rights and Options that may be issued to a Participant 
and the performance criteria and hurdles to be met prior to the issue or exercise of such Rights and Options is to be 
set by the board of Directors of the Company in reliance on the advice of an independent remuneration consultant.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Report (continued)

Variable Remuneration:

Fixed Remuneration

Variable Remuneration

Long–Term Incentives

The Group provides Directors with incentives designed to align their remuneration with the interests of 
shareholders. This is done through issuing options and rights to acquire ordinary shares in the Group. The number 
and the terms of the options and rights issued are determined by the Directors and approved by shareholders in a 
general meeting of members.

(b) Group Executive and Executive Director remuneration

Remuneration consists of fixed remuneration and variable remuneration, which comprises short–term and 
long–term incentive schemes.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Directors. The process consists of a review of relevant comparative 
remuneration in the employment market and within the Group and, where appropriate, external independent advice 
on policies and practices is obtained by the Board.

Senior managers are given the opportunity to receive their fixed (primary) remuneration in a variety of forms and 
are offered the opportunity to enter into “salary sacrifice” arrangements with the Group where appropriate. It is 
intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating additional cost for the 
Group.

The Group provides long–term incentives to senior Executives in a manner that aligns this element of remuneration 
with the creation of shareholder value. Executives and other employees can be issued with options and rights to 
acquire shares in the Group. The number and the terms of the options and rights issued are determined by the 
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!!

2. Details of Remuneration

acquire shares in the Group. The number and the terms of the options and rights issued are determined by the 
Directors after consideration of the employee’s performance and their ability to contribute to the achievement of the 
Group’s objectives.

As the options and rights confer a right but not an obligation on the recipient of the options, the Directors do not 
consider it necessary to establish a policy in relation to the person limiting his or her exposure to risk as a 
consequence of owning the options or rights.

Details of the remuneration of the Key Management Personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) 
are set out in Table 1 which follows.

The Key Management Personnel of TZ Limited, including the Directors and the following consolidated Group 
Executives, have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

These Executives comprise the Group Executives who make or participate in making decisions that affect the 
whole, or a substantial part, of the business or who have the capacity to affect significantly the Group’s financial 
standing.

36



D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
S

’ 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 (C

O
N

T
IN

U
E

D
)

R
e
m

u
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 R

e
p

o
rt

 (
c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
d

)

T
a

b
le

 1
: 

 D
e

ta
il

s
 o

f 
R

e
m

u
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 -

 D
ir

e
c

to
rs

 a
n

d
 K

e
y 

P
e

rs
o

n
n

e
l

(1
a

) 
Y

e
a

r 
e

n
d

e
d

 3
0

 J
u

n
e

 2
0

1
0

 

C
a

s
h

 S
a

la
ry

, 

F
e

e
s

 &
 

A
ll

o
w

a
n

c
e

s

C
a

s
h

 

B
o

n
u

s
e

s
S

u
p

e
r

P
re

s
c

ri
b

e
d

 

B
e

n
e

fi
ts

O
p

ti
o

n
s

R
ig

h
ts

T
o

ta
l

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

B
a

s
e

d

O
p

ti
o

n
s

 &
 

R
ig

h
ts

 

Y
e

a
r 

e
n

d
e

d
 3

0
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
1

0

N
o

n
-E

x
e

c
u

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

rs

W
ill

e
m

 d
e

 V
lu

g
t 

(r
e

si
g

n
e

d
 3

1
 M

a
y 

2
0

1
0

)
7

6
,8

4
5

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

6
7

,2
0

0
  

  
  

  
 

1
4

4
,0

4
5

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
4

6
.7

%

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
c

to
rs

M
a

rk
 B

o
u

ri
s

4
7

2
,2

6
4

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
5

5
,7

5
0

  
  

  
 

8
7

1
,3

9
9

  
  

  
 

1
,6

9
9

,4
1

3
  

  
1

1
.7

%
7

2
.2

%

K
e

n
n

e
th

 T
in

g
3

9
8

,1
6

3
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
2

6
6

,8
1

3
  

  
  

 
6

5
3

,5
4

9
  

  
  

 
1

,3
1

8
,5

2
5

  
  

1
1

.3
%

6
9

.8
%

D
ic

ko
ry

 R
u

d
d

u
ck

 (
a

p
p

o
in

te
d

 1
4

 M
a

y 
2

0
1

0
) 

*
1

8
1

,7
3

2
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
1

8
1

,7
3

2
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

O
th

e
r 

K
e

y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
P

e
rs

o
n

n
e

l

M
a

rk
 S

ch
w

a
rt

z
3

8
9

,0
1

8
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

6
,5

0
4

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
9

5
,5

2
2

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

Jo
h

n
 W

ils
o

n
 (

a
p

p
o

in
te

d
 1

7
 M

a
y 

2
0

1
0

)
4

5
,0

0
0

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
4

5
,0

0
0

  
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

Jo
h

n
 F

re
e

se
 (

C
O

O
 u

n
til

 1
7

 M
a

y 
2

0
1

0
)

1
8

8
,7

0
3

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
5

,0
8

5
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
1

9
3

,7
8

8
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

T
im

o
th

y 
K

o
e

h
le

r
1

2
9

,3
9

6
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
,5

3
1

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

1
3

2
,9

2
7

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

R
o

b
e

rt
 P

a
g

o
re

k 
(r

e
si

g
n

e
d

 1
0

 A
u

g
u

st
 2

0
0

9
)

5
7

,8
5

0
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
1

,4
4

6
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
5

9
,2

9
6

  
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

1
,9

3
8

,9
7

1
  

  
  

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

1
6

,5
6

6
  

  
  

  
 

6
2

2
,5

6
3

  
  

  
 

1
,5

9
2

,1
4

8
  

  
4

,1
7

0
,2

4
8

  
  

* 
D

ic
ko

ry
 R

u
d

d
u

ck
's

 r
e

m
u

n
e

ra
tio

n
 in

cl
u

d
e

s 
$

1
6

5
,1

4
3

 in
 s

h
o

rt
 t

e
rm

 b
e

n
e

fit
s 

re
ce

iv
e

d
 f

o
r 

th
e

 p
e

ri
o

d
 p

ri
o

r 
to

 h
is

 a
p

p
o

in
tm

e
n

t 
a

s 
a

n
 E

xe
cu

tiv
e

 D
ir

e
ct

o
r.

%
 o

f 
R

e
m

u
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
S

h
o

rt
 T

e
rm

 B
e

n
e

fi
ts

P
o

s
t 

E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

B
e

n
e

fi
ts

S
h

a
re

 B
a

s
e

d
 P

a
ym

e
n

ts

3
7



D
IR

E
C

T
O

R
S

’ 
R

E
P

O
R

T
 (C

O
N

T
IN

U
E

D
)

R
e
m

u
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 R

e
p

o
rt

 (
c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
d

)

T
a

b
le

 1
: 

 D
e

ta
il

s
 o

f 
R

e
m

u
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
 -

 D
ir

e
c

to
rs

 a
n

d
 K

e
y 

P
e

rs
o

n
n

e
l

(1
b

) 
Y

e
a

r 
e

n
d

e
d

 3
0

 J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
9

T
h

e
 f

o
llo

w
in

g
 t

a
b

le
 h

a
s 

b
e

e
n

 p
re

p
a

re
d

 o
n

 t
h

e
 b

a
si

s 
o
f 

in
fo

rm
a

tio
n

 a
va

ila
b

le
 a

t 
th

e
 t

im
e

 o
f 

p
re

p
a

ri
n

g
 t

h
e

se
 F

in
a

n
ci

a
l R

e
p

o
rt

s 
(R

e
fe

r 
to

 N
o

te
 1

 -
 B

a
si

s 
o

f 
P

re
p

a
ra

tio
n

):

C
a

s
h

 S
a

la
ry

, 

F
e

e
s

 &
 

A
ll

o
w

a
n

c
e

s

C
a

s
h

 

B
o

n
u

s
e

s
S

u
p

e
r

P
re

s
c

ri
b

e
d

 

B
e

n
e

fi
ts

O
p

ti
o

n
s

R
ig

h
ts

T
o

ta
l

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

B
a

s
e

d

O
p

ti
o

n
s

 &
 

R
ig

h
ts

 

Y
e

a
r 

e
n

d
e

d
 3

0
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
0

9

N
o

n
-E

x
e

c
u

ti
v

e
 D

ir
e

c
to

rs

M
ic

h
a

e
l O

tt
e

n
 (

re
si

g
n

e
d

 1
8

 J
u

n
e

 2
0

0
9

)
2

1
2

,3
3

6
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
2

1
2

,3
3

6
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

W
ill

e
m

 d
e

 V
lu

g
t

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

E
x

e
c

u
ti

v
e

 D
ir

e
c

to
rs

A
n

d
re

w
 S

ig
a

lla
 (

re
si

g
n

e
d

 2
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
0

9
)

8
6

4
,7

7
6

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

1
0

,0
9

8
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
8

7
4

,8
7

4
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

Jo
h

n
 F

a
lc

o
n

e
r 

(r
e

si
g

n
e

d
 1

8
 J

u
n

e
 2

0
0

9
)

1
1

0
,0

9
2

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

1
1

0
,0

9
2

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

M
a

rk
 B

o
u

ri
s

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

K
e

n
n

e
th

 T
in

g
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

O
th

e
r 

K
e

y
 M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t 
P

e
rs

o
n

n
e

l

C
h

ri
s 

K
e

lli
h

e
r 

(r
e

si
g

n
e

d
 5

 M
a

y 
2

0
0

9
)

3
4

7
,9

6
6

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
4

7
,9

6
6

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

M
a

rk
 S

ch
w

a
rt

z
4

3
0

,8
5

4
  

  
  

  
 

1
3

1
,3

8
9

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
1

1
,8

2
9

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
5

7
4

,0
7

2
  

  
  

 
2

2
.9

%
0

.0
%

D
ic

ko
ry

 R
u

d
d

u
ck

3
5

7
,2

8
3

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
5

7
,2

8
3

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

Jo
h

n
 F

re
e

se
2

1
0

,8
3

2
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

5
,2

7
1

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

2
1

6
,1

0
3

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

T
im

o
th

y 
K

o
e

h
le

r
1

5
7

,0
1

0
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
,9

2
6

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

1
6

0
,9

3
6

  
  

  
 

0
.0

%
0

.0
%

R
o

b
e

rt
 P

a
g

o
re

k 
(r

e
si

g
n

e
d

 1
0

 A
u

g
u

st
 2

0
0

9
)

3
3

7
,3

1
6

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
4

,4
3

4
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
3

4
1

,7
5

0
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

D
a

vi
d

 F
e

b
e

r 
(c

e
a

se
d

 1
1

 N
o

ve
m

b
e

r 
2

0
0

8
)

3
5

6
,9

8
7

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
3

,0
2

5
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
3

6
0

,0
1

2
  

  
  

 
0

.0
%

0
.0

%

3
,3

8
5

,4
5

2
  

  
  

1
3

1
,3

8
9

  
  

  
 

1
0

,0
9

8
  

  
  

  
 

2
8

,4
8

5
  

  
  

  
 

-
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

 
-

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
 

3
,5

5
5

,4
2

4
  

  

%
 o

f 
R

e
m

u
n

e
ra

ti
o

n
S

h
o

rt
 T

e
rm

 B
e

n
e

fi
ts

P
o

s
t 

E
m

p
lo

ym
e

n
t 

B
e

n
e

fi
ts

S
h

a
re

 B
a

s
e

d
 P

a
ym

e
n

ts

3
8



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Report (continued)

3. Service Agreements

Dickory Rudduck - Executive Director (appointed 14 May 2010) and CTO Telezygology Inc.

Agreement commencement date: 1 June 2010 Term: 1 Year

Maximum Benefit: US$180,000

Entitlements:

- Allowance totaling $12,220 for the benefit of purchasing COBRA health insurance;

- Payment at $150 per hour for consultancy services up to 60 hours per month;

Notice Period: 3 months

Mark Schwartz - CEO PDT Inc.

Agreement Commencement Date: 1 December 2008 Term: 3 Years

Base Salary: US$360,000

Notice Period: 6 months

John Wilson - CEO Telezygology Inc. (appointed CEO 17 May 2010)

Other  than as noted below, there are presently no agreements setting out the terms and conditions of the appointment 
and retirement of Directors. 

The Directors and other Key Management Personnel that have service contracts in place, or another agreement 
detailing remuneration and the other terms of employment, are summarised below:

- Payment as a Director of Telezygology, Inc. and TZ Limited that will not exceed $15,000 per month when 
combined with COBRA benefit and consultancy fees.

39

John Wilson - CEO Telezygology Inc. (appointed CEO 17 May 2010)

Agreement Commencement Date:  1 September 2009 Term:  No fixed term

Agreement Amendment Date: 17 May 2010

Base Salary:  AUD$360,000

Notice Period: By negotiation

Tim Koehler - CFO Telezygolgoy Inc.

Agreement Commencement Date: 1 February 2008 Term: No fixed term

Base Salary: US$120,000

Notice Period: By negotiation

Robert Pagorek (CFO Resigned 10 August 2009)

Agreement Commencement Date: 6 August 2008 Term: No fixed term

Base Salary: US$300,000

Entitlements: 

 - Signing bonus of $50,000

 - Salary increases to US$320,000 if listed on the NASDAQ.

 - Options based upon financial performance.

Notice Period: 60 days 

39
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers

Significant events after the end of the reporting period

Share Options

At the date of this report, options over unissued shares or interests of the Company are as follows:

Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise 

Price

Number of 

Options

18-Jan-08 18-Jan-11 $3.75 100,000

18-Jan-08 19-Jan-11 $3.75 195,000

20-Jan-08 20-Jan-11 $3.00 149,000

8-Feb-08 7-Feb-11 $6.00 75,000

1-Jan-08 31-Dec-10 $6.00 310,125

24-Oct-08 24-Oct-11 $2.50 850,000

Jan 08 to Aug 08 Jan 11 to Aug 11 $6.00 116,666

The Group has taken out an insurance policy indemnifying Directors and officers for the financial year.

Matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may 
significant affect the operations of the economic entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
economic entity in future financial years are disclosed in Note 24.

45

Jan 08 to Aug 08 Jan 11 to Aug 11 $6.00 116,666

Feb 07 to Jan 08 May 11 to Feb 13 $3.75 - $6.00 90,000

Jan 08 to Nov 08 Nov 11 to Dec 11 $6.00 142,250

24-Oct-08 24-Oct-11 $2.50 150,000

15-May-09 15-May-12 $2.50 65,000

19-Feb-08 19-Feb-13 $1.00 3,000,000

5-Mar-10 5-Mar-11 $1.00 150,000

26-Feb-10 30-Jun-16 $1.00 1,750,000

26-Feb-10 30-Jun-17 $2.00 1,750,000

26-Feb-10 30-Jun-18 $3.00 1,750,000

10,643,041

Rights

At the date of this report, rights issued under the Directors and Executives Equity Plan are:

Grant Date Exercise 

Period Start 

Date

Expiry Date Exercise 

Price

Number of 

Rights

26-Feb-10 1-Jul-11 30-Jun-12 $Nil 800,000
26-Feb-10 1-Jul-11 30-Jun-12 $Nil 600,000

1,400,000

In accordance with Resolution 12(a)(ii) from the 2009 Annual General Meeting, these rights are subject to the 
satisfaction of Performance Hurdles.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Ordinary Shares Issued on Exercise of Rights

Date Rights Granted 26-Feb-10

Issue Price of shares $Nil

Number of shares issued 1,480,000

Environmental Issues

Corporate Governance

Proceedings on Behalf of Company

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for 
all or any part of those proceedings.

The Directors are responsible for the corporate governance practices of the Company. The main corporate 
governance practices that were in operation during the financial year are set out in the Corporate Governance 
section of these financial statements.

The consolidated entity’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under a law of 
the Commonwealth or of a State or Territory.

The following ordinary shares of TZ limited were issued since the end of the financial year as a result of the 
exercise of rights issued under the Directors and Executives Equity Plan:
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration

Signed this 30th day of September 2010 in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Mark Bouris Kenneth Ting 

Director Director

The Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.

The Company’s independent auditor has provided an independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2010, 
a copy of the declaration is attached to and forms part of the Directors’ report.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

Note $ $

Revenue from continuing operations 2         17,616,103         17,696,230 

Direct material 3 (814,583) (1,883,421)

Direct employment related expenses 3 (5,580,877) (6,059,801)

Subcontractors 3 (4,577,198) (3,380,618)

Company overheads 3 (456,572) (1,227,536)

Other cost of sales 3 (160,639) (196,270)

Gross profit 6,026,234 4,948,584

Interest Revenue ! 19,412 523,675

Other income 2 60,084 585,265

(Loss)/Gain on movement in fair value of derivative liability 3 (6,158,048) 13,798,200

Loss on conversion of convertible notes 3 (5,627,277)                        -   

Gain on issue of shares to extinguish liabilities 3 1,108,279                        -   

Doubtful debts and impairment losses 3                        -   (16,236,418)

Employment related expenses (6,558,494) (11,189,207)

Occupancy expenses (933,930) (609,368)

Communications expenses (247,304) (377,513)

Depreciation 3 (987,281) (977,515)

Amortisation of intangibles 3 (1,240,901) (1,062,171)

Professional & corporate servcies (4,894,072) (2,540,002)

Travel and accomodation (513,992) (2,077,942)

Development costs (113,665) (2,964,131)

Finance costs (5,005,778) (4,169,214)

Other expenses (1,446,018) (1,614,902)

3

Loss before income tax 3 (26,512,751) (23,962,659)

Income tax (benefit) / expense 5 (165,429) 445,838

Net loss for the year       (26,347,322)       (24,408,497) 

Other comprehensive (loss) / income

Foreign currency translation differences         (1,705,795)           1,317,666 

Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year 

attributable to owners of the parent entity net of tax         (1,705,795)           1,317,666 

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year 

attributable to owners of the parent entity net of tax (28,053,117) (23,090,831)

Continued operations

Basic loss per share (cents) 6 (0.49) (0.50)
Diluted loss per share (cents) 6 (0.49) (0.50)

Consolidated Entity

* The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

Closing Opening

2010 2009 2009

Note $ $ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 18              232,358 565,818 23,909,009

Trade and other receivables 7           4,482,501 2,834,539 9,455,904

Work in progress 8              567,393 687,107 56,794

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS           5,282,252           4,087,464        33,421,707 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 9           1,974,293 3,027,185 2,586,200

Intangible assets 10         24,543,062 25,826,995 25,354,488

Deferred tax asset 5              635,224 408,095 113,332

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS         27,152,579         29,262,275        28,054,020 

TOTAL ASSETS         32,434,831         33,349,739        61,475,727 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 11           5,237,497 6,879,995 3,249,206

Provisions 12                86,500 103,961 499,101

Other financial liabilities 13           6,665,047 10,265,528 973,969

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES         11,989,044         17,249,484          4,722,276 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other Payables 11              533,130 684,536 763,574

Other financial liabilities 13         14,213,342                        -   20,133,710

Deferred tax liabilities 5              829,091 782,516 1,426,354

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES         15,575,563           1,467,052        22,323,638 

TOTAL LIABILITIES         27,564,607         18,716,536        27,045,914 

NET ASSETS           4,870,224         14,633,203        34,429,813 

EQUITY

Contributed Equity 14       130,675,256 114,726,786 113,726,786

Reserves 15 (706,147) 999,648 (318,018)

Accumulated losses 15 (125,098,885) (101,093,231) (78,978,955)

TOTAL EQUITY           4,870,224         14,633,203        34,429,813 

* The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

Consolidated Entity
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010  

Consolidated Entity

Issued 

Capital

Other 

Contributed 

Equity

Foreign 

Currency 

Translation 

Reserve

Accumulated 

losses
Total

$ $ $ $  $ 

Balance at 1 July 2008    112,579,931       2,368,394     (5,250,426)       (49,194,310)     60,503,589 

Adjustments due to correction of prior 
period errors (Note 4)

       1,146,855     (2,368,394)       4,932,408       (29,784,645)  (26,073,776) 

Restated total equity at the beginning of 

the financial year    113,726,786                    -          (318,018)       (78,978,955)     34,429,813 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
differences                     -                      -         1,317,666                        -         1,317,666 

Other comprehensive income

Loss for the year                     -                      -                      -         (24,408,497)  (24,408,497) 

Total comprehensive income                     -                      -         1,317,666       (24,408,497)  (23,090,831) 

Transactions with owners in their 

capacity as owners

Issue of capital during the period        1,000,000                    -                      -                          -         1,000,000 

Share-based payment                     -                      -                      -              2,294,221       2,294,221 

       1,000,000                    -                      -              2,294,221       3,294,221 

Balance at 30 June 2009    114,726,786                    -            999,648     (101,093,231)     14,633,203 

Balance at 1 July 2009    114,726,786                    -            999,648     (101,093,231)     14,633,203 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
differences                     -                      -       (1,705,795)                        -      (1,705,795) 

Other comprehensive income

Loss for the year                     -                      -                      -         (26,347,322)  (26,347,322) 

Total comprehensive income                     -                      -       (1,705,795)       (26,347,322)  (28,053,117) 

Transactions with owners in their 

capacity as owners

Issue of capital during the period        1,100,000                    -                      -                          -         1,100,000 

Conversion of Convertible Notes      10,080,000                    -                      -                          -       10,080,000 

Shares issued to extinguish liabilities                     -         4,768,470                    -                          -         4,768,470 

Share-based payment                     -                      -                      -              2,341,668       2,341,668 

     11,180,000       4,768,470                    -              2,341,668     18,290,138 

Balance at 30 June 2010    125,906,786       4,768,470        (706,147)     (125,098,885)       4,870,224 

Contributed Equity
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

Note $ $

Receipts from customers 16,465,006 18,040,779

(20,865,225) (32,454,302)

Interest received 63,221 898,372

(27,480) (60,404)

Income tax refund (paid) 12,309 (197,458)

Net Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities 18(b) (4,352,169) (13,773,013)

(256,300) (1,027,156)

Payment for intangible assets (1,577,239) (510,924)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 4,028                       -   

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (1,829,511) (1,538,080)

Proceeds from share issues 50,000 1,000,000

Proceeds from convertible note issue 6,441,000                       -   

Repayment of borrowings (680,058) (366,441)

Proceeds from borrowings 221,190 538,694

Payment to former directors' related entities                       -   (9,544,052)

Net Cash Flows from / (used in) Financing Activities 6,032,132 (8,371,799)

Net (decrease) / increase in cash held (149,548) (23,682,892)

Cash at beginning of the year              565,818         23,909,009 

Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on the balances of 
cash held in foreign currencies (183,912)              339,700 

Cash at the End of Period 18(a) 232,358 565,818

* The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Payment for plant and equipment

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated Entity

Payments to suppliers and employees

Interest paid

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Corporate Information

Basis of Preparation

(a) Principles of Consolidation

Subsidiaries are accounted for in the parent entity financial information in Note 20.

The financial statements of TZ Limited for the year ended 30 June 2010 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the directors and covers the consolidated entity consisting of TZ Limited and its subsidiaries as required by 
the Corporations Act 2001. Separate financial statements for TZ Limited as an individual entity are no longer presented 
as a consequence of a change to the Corporations Act 2001. However, limited financial information for TZ Limited as an 
individual entity is included in note 20.

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Corporations Act 2001.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of TZ Limited and its subsidiaries ("the Group") 
at 30 June each year . Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. Potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing control. Consolidated financial statements include all 
subsidiaries from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent, using consistent accounting policies.

The address of the registered office and principal place of business is Level 11, 1 Chifley Square, Sydney 2000.

The financial statements are presented in Australian currency.

TZ Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on the Australian 
Securities Exchange.

The financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board.

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for derivatives, which have been 
measured at fair value through profit and loss.

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intragroup transactions have been 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset 
transferred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Going Concern

(c) Business Combinations

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. At 30 June 2010 the Group’s current liabilities 
exceeded current assets by $6,706,792 (2009: $13,162,020). For the year ended 30 June 2010 the Group incurred losses 
after income tax of $26,347,322 (2009: $24,408,497) and net cash outflows from operating activities for the year ended 
30 June 2010 were $4,352,169 (2009: $13,773,013). 

The current board of Directors and Key Management Personnel have invested considerable resources into the 
development of the Groups products and commercial partnerships with Anixter and Pitney Bowes. Market share in core 
segments that the Group operates is predicted to be strong on the back of the commerical partners dominance in these 
segments, and the coming years sales forecasts are reflective of this. General economic turn-around expected in 2011 
and 2012 should stimulate further market growth particularly in the infrastructure areas where the Group operates.

The group has favourable forecasts and, without the extraordinary cash draw downs that were experienced during the 
2009 Financial Year, the Directors are hopeful that the consolidated entity will strengthen over the coming 12 months.

The ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent on the ability of the group to raise additional share 
capital, the continued support of the group’s lenders and shareholders and the ability to generate future profits and 
positive cash flows that have been forecast.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, except in instances where reverse 
acquisition accounting applies. Consideration is measured at the fair value of the assets transferred, liabilities incurred 
and equity interests issued by the group on acquisition date. Consideration also includes the acquisition date fair values 
of any contingent consideration arrangements, any pre-existing equity interests in the acquiree and share-based payment 
awards of the acquiree that are required to be replaced in a business combination. The acquisition date is the date on 
which the group obtains control of the acquiree. Where equity instruments are issued as part of the consideration, the 
value of the equity instruments is their published market price at the acquisition date unless, in rare circumstances it can 
be demonstrated that the published price at acquisition date is not fair value and that other evidence and valuation 
methods provide a more reliable measure of fair value. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations are, with limited 
exceptions, initially measured at their fair values at acquisition date. Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration 
transferred and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired. If the consideration and non-controlling interest of the acquiree is less than the fair value of the net identifiable 
assets acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss as a bargain purchase price, but only after a reassessment 
of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

For each business combination, the group measures non-controlling interests at either fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest's proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed when incurred. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are 
recognised directly in equity and transaction costs arising on the issue of debt as part of the consideration are accounted 
for in accordance with note 1(v).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Business Combinations (continued)

(d) Income Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set–off exists and it is intended that net 
settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. Deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set–off exists, the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is 
intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in 
future periods in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled.

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during the year 
as well unused tax losses.

Current and deferred income tax expense (benefit) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profit or loss 
when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also result where 
amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. No deferred income tax will be recognised 
from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on 
accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at reporting date. Their 
measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the 
related asset or liability.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint ventures, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be 
controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.

Where the group obtains control of a subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an equity accounted investment in 
associate or jointly controlled entity, the group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree at its 
acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Where the group obtains control of 
a subsidiary that was previously accounted for as an available-for-sale investment, any balance on the available-for-sale 
reserve related to that investment is recognised in profit or loss as if the group had disposed directly of the previously held 
interest. 

Where settlement of any part of the cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in future are discounted to 
present value at the date of exchange using the entity's incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The income tax expense (benefit) for the year comprises current income tax expense (benefit) and deferred tax expense 
(benefit).

Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using applicable 
income tax rates enacted, or substantially enacted, as at reporting date. Current tax liabilities (assets) are therefore 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant taxation authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

(f)   Property, Plant and Equipment

Office Furniture and Equipment 15% - 35%

Leasehold Improvement 20% - 33%

Motor Vehicles 20%

Plant & Equipment 20%

Work in Progress

(h)  Trade Receivables

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within short-
term borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

Property, plant and equipment is included at cost, less where applicable, any accumulated depreciation or amortisation. 
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it does not exceed the 
recoverable amount.

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset's useful life to the 
consolidated group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated 
over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:

(g) Inventories and Work in Progress

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises all direct materials, direct labour 
and an appropriate portion of variable and fixed overheads. Fixed overheads are allocated on the basis of normal 
operating capacity. Costs are assigned to inventories using the weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated selling cost of completion and selling 
expenses.

Work in progress is recognised in accordance with revenue recognition policies (Refer Note 1 (m)) and is based on 
the percentage of completion method.

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amounts less an allowance for uncollectible amounts and have 
repayment terms between 30 and 90 days. Collectability of trade receivables is assessed on an ongoing basis. Debts 
which are known to be uncollectible are written off. An allowance is made for doubtful debts where there is objective 
evidence  that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms.  Objective evidence of 
impairment include financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or debts more than 180 days overdue. On 
confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectible the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the 
associated provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)  Trade Receivables (continued)

(i)  Accounts payable

(j)   Employee entitlements

Wages and Salaries, Annual Leave and Sick Leave

Long Service Leave

Commissions and Bonuses Payable 

(k)   Leases

Where assets are acquired by means of finance leases, the present value of minimum lease payments is established as 
an asset at the beginning of the lease term and amortised on a straight line basis over the expected economic life. A 
corresponding liability is also established and each lease payment is allocated between such liability and interest 
expense.

The provisions for employee entitlements to wages, salaries and annual leave represent the amount which the 
consolidated entity has a present obligation to pay resulting from employees’ services provided up to balance date. The 
provision has been calculated at nominal amounts and includes related on-costs.

The liability for employee entitlements to long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflows to be made by the employer resulting from employees’ services provided up to the balance date.

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are recognised in other liabilities or current 
provisions in respect of employees' services rendered up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised 
when leave is taken and measured at the actual rates paid or payable. 

Liabilities for long service leave are recognised as part of the provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees to the end of the 
reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future salaries and wages 
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using 
national government bond rates at the end of the reporting period with terms to maturity and currency that match, as 
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

The Group recognises an expense and a liability for bonuses and commissions when the entity is contractually 
obliged to  make such payments or where there is past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Lease payments under operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged 
as expenses in the period in which they are incurred. Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability 
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term.

From time to time, the Group elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from customers with which it has 
previously had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will lead to changes in the timing of payments rather than 
changes to the amounts owed and are not, in the view of the directors, sufficient to require the derecognition of the 
original instrument.

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Company becomes obliged to make future 
payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. These amounts are unsecured and have 30 - 60 day 
payment terms.

56



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(l) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

Functional and Presentation Currency

(m) Revenue Recognition

Sale of Goods

Rendering of Services

Interest and Dividend Income

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer of significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and the cessation of all involvement in those goods.

Revenue from engineering design services is recognised in accordance with the percentage of completion method. The 
stage of completion is measured by reference to total costs incurred to date as a percentage of estimated total costs for 
each contract. Where the contract outcome cannot be reliably measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of the 
expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate financial assets is the rate 
inherent in the instrument.  Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established. All 
revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST).

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which 
is the functional and presentation currency of TZ Limited.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from settling foreign currency 
transactions, as well as from restating foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities, are recognised in 
profit or loss, except when they are deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash flow hedges or where they 
relate to differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a foreign entity.

Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when fair value was determined. 

The functional currencies of the overseas subsidiaries is USD. At the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities 
of these overseas subsidiaries are translated into the presentation currency of TZ Limited at the closing rate at the end of 
the reporting period and income and expenses are translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. All 
resulting exchange difference are recognised in other comprehensive income as a separate component of equity (foreign 
currency translation reserve). On disposal of a foreign entity, the cumulative exchange differences recognised in foreign 
currency translation reserves relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the 
foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of 
returns, trade allowances and duties and taxes paid. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before 
revenue is recognised:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n) Goods and Services Tax

(o) Impairment of Assets

(p) Contributed Equity

(q)  Share-Based Payments

(r) Fair Values

The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. 
Assumptions used are based on observable market prices and rates at balance date. Estimated discounted cashflows are 
used to determine fair value of the remaining financial instruments. 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the group for similar 
financial instruments.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Refer Note 10.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown as a deduction from the equity proceeds, net of 
any income tax benefit. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options associated with the acquisition of 
a business are included as part of the purchase consideration.

The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) of the Group in the form of share-based payment 
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or options over shares ("equity-settled 
transactions"). The Director and Executive Equity Plan also gives Directors and Senior Executives the opportunity to 
participate in company's equity in exchange for their services.

Fair values may be used for financial asset and liability measurement as well as for sundry disclosures.

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and 
financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the 
asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying 
value. Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)  Earnings Per Share

(i)     Basic Earnings Per Share

(ii)    Diluted Earnings Per Share

(t)  Intangible Assets

(i)     Goodwill

(ii)     Trade Names

(iii)     Other Intangible Assets

Patents

Expenditure directly attributable to the registration of patents is capitalised at cost and is amortised over the 
useful life of between 15 - 20 years. Amortisation expenses are shown in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as Amortisation of Intangibles. The carrying value of patents is reviewed annually for impairment. 
Refer to Note10 for carrying values.

Customer Relationships

Customer relationships acquired as part of a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill 
and are carried at their fair value at date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is calculated based on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of between 10 - 15 
years. Amortisation expenses are shown in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as Amortisation of 
Intangibles. Refer Note 10 for carrying values.

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the operating profit/ (loss) after income tax by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Earnings used to calculate diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the basic earnings by the after-tax 
effect of dividends and interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares. The weighted average number of 
shares used is adjusted for the weighted average number of  ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion 
of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.  

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred and the amount of the non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree over fair value of the  identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Goodwill is not amortised but is 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually, or more 
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Gains and losses 
on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination's 
synergies. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
goodwill relates. Impairment losses on goodwill cannot be reversed. Refer to Note 10 for carrying value of goodwill.

Trade names have an indefinite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Refer Note 10 
for carrying values.Trade names are reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)  Investments and Other Financial Assets

(v)  Financial liabilities 

All borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

The carrying value of development costs is reviewed annually when the asset is not yet available for use, or 
when events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Carrying values can be found 
in Note 10.

Re-acquired rights are initially recognised at cost, then amortised over their expected useful life of 13.5 years. 
Amortisation is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as Amortisation of Intangibles. The 
carrying value of reacquired rights is reviewed annually for impairment. Carrying values can be found in Note 
10.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements as described in note 1(a) and in the 
parent entity financial information in note 20. 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the loans and borrowings using the effective 
interest method.

Under the terms of the Convertible Note Subscription Deed and the subsequent amendments, the conversion price is the 
lower of (a) the agreed conversion price and (b) the issue price of any subsequent share issue during the term of the 
convertible notes. As a result of this clause the note holders equity risk is eliminated, and therefore the instruments are 
treated as debt instruments with an embedded derivative.

The fair value of the debt portion of the convertible notes is determined after calculating the fair value of the embedded 
derivative on inception. The debt portion is subsequently measured at amortised cost and the embedded derivative 
financial instrument is measured at fair value at each reporting date with any movement in fair value reported in profit or 
loss. Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of convertible notes based on the allocation 
of proceeds to the debt and equity components (if any) when the instruments are first recognised. Refer also to Note 4.2 
for changes to prior year figures.

Re-acquired Right (Intevia Licence)

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditure incurred on an individual project is 
capitalised if the product or service is technically feasible, adequate resources are available to complete the 
project, it is probable that future economic benefits will be generated and expenditure attributable to the 
project can be measured reliably. Expenditure capitalised comprises costs of materials, services, direct labour 
and an appropriate portion of overheads. 

Other development costs are expensed when they are incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses, and are amortised over the period of 
expected future sales from the related projects which vary from 3 - 11 years.

Research and Development Costs

(iii)     Other Intangible Assets (continued)
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

(i) Correction of errors

The convertible notes, as a result of this clause which eliminates the note holder's equity risk, are therefore debt 
instruments which host an embedded derivative in accordance with AASB 132.

Upon inception, the derivative element of the convertible notes is separated and valued in accordance with AASB 
139. Thereafter the derivative is designated as fair value through profit and loss, and accordingly is fair valued at the 
end of each reporting period, with any movement in the fair value reported through profit and loss.

These loans and receivables were fully provided against for the purposes of the 2009 Financial Report and their 
recoverability remains unknown at the time of preparing this report for the year ended 30 June 2010. Litigation has 
commenced in relation to the recovery of $13,230,526 of these loans and receivables. A contingent asset has been 
disclosed, refer to Note 21 for further details.

(iii) Valuation of embedded derivatives and convertible note debt portion At the time of preparing the 2009 Financial Statements, the convertible notes were treated as compound financial 
instruments in accordance with AASB 132, and were split between debt and equity. The fair value of the liability 
portion of the convertible notes was determined using a market rate of interest for an equivalent non-convertible 
note and stated on an amortised cost basis until conversion or maturity. The remainder of the proceeds was 
allocated to the conversion option and treated as equity. Issue costs were apportioned between the liability and 
equity components based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments 
were recognised.

However, after further review of the relevant agreements between the TZ Limited and QVT, it was deemed 
necessary to restate the comparatives and change the way the convertible notes are accounted for.

The terms of the Convertible Note Subscription Deed are such that the note holders are able to convert to equity at 
the conversion date at the lower of: (a) the agreed conversion price; and (b) the issue price of any subsequent share 
issue during the term of the convertible note.

The convertible note debt portion is measured at fair value on inception and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost.

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires management to make 
estimates, judgements and assumptions based on historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates 
assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data obtained both 
externally and within the group. Actual results may differ from the estimates.

The key estimates and judgements made by the directors include:

(ii) Impairment of related party loans, other advances and sundry debtors.

As disclosed in Notes 3 and 7, during and prior to the 2009 financial year, significant loans were made to former 
directors and related parties.

The 2010 Financial Statements are presented based on the information available at the time of issuance, and 
requests have been made to the previous board of Directors, former accountant and former auditor for additional 
information regarding various transactions as identified in notes 4 and 7. In the event that new information becomes 
available, adjustments may be required in the future.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued)

(x) New Accounting Standards for Application in future periods

During the year the group adopted all of the new and revised Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
applicable to its operations which became mandatory apart from Interpretation 19, the amendment to AASB 8 that is 
included in AASB 2009-5 and the updates to AASB 7 which have been early adopted. The Group has made formal written 
elections to early adopt these changes.

The following new / amended accounting standards and interpretations have been issued but are not mandatory for 
financial year ended 30 June 2010.  They have not been adopted in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2010 and are expected to impact the entity in the period of initial application.  The entity intends to apply these 
standards from application date as indicated below.  A discussion of the requirements and their impact on the Group is as 
follows:

i) AASB 2009-5 “Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 

Improvements Process” (issued May 2009) - impacts annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 
2010.  Amendments to AASB 107 “Statement of Cash Flows” clarifies that only expenditures that result in a 
recognised asset in the statement of financial position are eligible for classification as cash flows from investing 
activities.  Initial adoption of this amendment will have no impact as the entity only recognises cash flows from 
investing activities for expenditures that result in a recognised asset in the statement of financial position.  
Amendments to AASB 136 “Impairment of Assets” clarifies that CGUs to which goodwill is allocated cannot be larger 
than an operating segment as defined in AASB 8 Operating Segments before aggregation.  There will be no impact as 
these requirements are only required to be applied prospectively to goodwill impairment calculations for periods 
commencing on or after 1 July 2010.

ii) AASB 2009-8 “Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Group Cash-settled Share-based 

Payment Transactions” (issued July 2009) - applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2010.  This amendment clarifies the scope and accounting for group cash-settled share-based payment transactions 
in the individual financial statements of an entity receiving the goods/services when that entity has no obligation to 
settle the share-based payment transaction.  There is expected to be no impact as there are no share-based payment 
transactions where the entity receives goods or services with no corresponding obligation to settle the share-based 
payment transaction.

iii) AASB 9 “Financial Instruments” (issued December 2009) - applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2013.  This amends the requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets.  Due to 
the recent release of these amendments and that adoption is only mandatory for the 30 June 2014 year end, the 
entity has not yet made an assessment of the impact of these amendments.

To value the derivative, the Black Scholes valuation method was used. In doing so, a judgement was made that the 
conversion price, although impossible to predict due to the terms of the convertible note deed, could reasonably be 
assumed to be the current conversion price at the date the valuation is performed. At 30 June 2010 this was $0.39 
which is the value of the most recent share issue for TZ Limited. Judgement and estimation was also exercised 
regarding other valuation inputs such as life of the derivative and share price volatility.

The carrying values at 30 June 2010 of the derivative and convertible note liabilities are $9,061,958 and 
$11,075,075 respectively (2009: derivative $712,200 and convertible note $8,260,861) as detailed in Note 13.

(iv) Impairment of Intangibles

Key assumptions regarding impairment and details of the assessment that has been performed are disclosed in 
Note 10.
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1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

iv) AASB 2010-3 and AASB 2010-4 “Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 

Annual Improvements Project” -  amending AASB 1, AASB 3, AASB 7, AASB 101 & AASB 134 and Interpretation 
13, was issued in June 2010.  These changes are only applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or 
after 1 January 2011, but the changes to AASB 7 have been early adopted.  There will be no impact on initial adoption 
in relation to AASB 3 “Business Combinations” as these requirements are only required to be applied prospectively.  
The impact of early adopting AASB 7 “Financial Instruments:  Disclosures” is none in relation to amounts recognised 
in the financial statements as the amendments result in fewer disclosures only.  For AASB 101 “Presentation of 
Financial Statements”, which requires a detailed reconciliation of each item of other comprehensive income may be 
included in the statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements, there will no impact on initial 
adoption as a detailed reconciliation of each item of OCI has always been included in the statement of changes in 
equity.

v) AASB 2009-10 “Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Classification of Rights Issues         

[AASB 132]” - applies retrospectively to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010. This applies 
where rights or options are issued, granting a fixed number of shares for a fixed amount in a different currency to the 
functional currency.  The amendment clarifies that such transactions must be treated as equity.   No assessment has 
been made of the impact of these changes.

vi) AASB Interpretation 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments” (issued December 

2009)  - has been early adopted.  This Interpretation clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish 
all or part of a financial liability are ‘consideration paid’ to be recognised at the fair value of the equity instruments 
issued, unless their fair value cannot be measured reliably, in which case they are measured at the fair value of the 
debt extinguished.  Any difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished and the 
‘consideration paid’ is recognised in profit or loss. There will be no further impact to the financial statements as the 
equity instruments issued on 26 February 2010 as consideration to extinguish liabilities in relation to expenses paid 
on TZL’s behalf by QVT, and for accrued interest for 2008 and 2009, and the issue on 26 March 2010 for the 
conversion of $12m of the Series I Notes, were measured at fair value.  This application has resulted in derecognition 
of liabilities of $4,477,808 relating to accrued interest charges, and $2,448,941 of expenses paid by QVT on TZL’s 
behalf, and a gain on settlement of $1,108,279 (refer to Note 3) through profit and loss for the year ended 30 June 
2010.  $4,768,470 of Other Contributed Equity and $1,050,000 of issued capital has been recognised in relation to the 
extinguishment of these liabilities (refer note 14(i-ii)) In addition a loss of $5,627,277 (refer to Note 3) was recognised 
on the conversion of 12,000 $1,000 convertible notes which represented the difference between the carrying value of 
the convertible note liability of $4,452,723 and the fair value of the shares issued to extinguish the liability of 
$10,080,000 (refer to note 14(i)). 

vii) AASB 2009-5 “Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 

Improvements Process” (issued May 2009) - the AASB 2009-5 Amendment to AASB 8 regarding disclosure of 
segment assets and liabilities has also been early adopted. Refer to note 19 for details.

(x) New Accounting Standards for Application in future periods (continued)
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

Note $ $

Sales & Service Revenue 17,308,056 17,696,230

Royalties 308,047                      -   

Interest 19,412 523,675

Total Revenue 17,635,515 18,219,905

Other Income

Foreign Exchange (Loss) / Gain (17,175) 585,265

Other Income 77,259                      -   

Total Other Income 60,084 585,265

3. EXPENSES

Loss from Continuing Activities Includes:

Cost of Goods Sold (11,589,869) (12,747,645)

(Loss)/gain on movement in fair value of derivative liability (6,158,048) 13,798,200

Loss on conversion of convertible notes (5,627,277)                      -   

Gain on issue of shares to extinguish liabilities 1,108,279                      -   

Loss on disposal of redundant laboratory equipment (157,438)                      -   

Amortisation - Intellectual Property 10 (1,240,900) (1,062,171)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 (987,282) (977,515)

Bad and Doubtful Debts Expense                     -   (48,082)

Impairment Losses

- Intangible Assets                       - (438,339)

- Loans to Related Parties & other cash advances 7                       - (9,544,052)

- Sundry Debtors from prior year 7                       - (6,205,945)

Finance Cost (5,005,778) (4,169,214)

4. CORRECTION OF ERRORS

Consolidated Entity

2. REVENUES AND OTHER INCOME

4.1 Review of Opening Balance Sheet accounts - 1 July 2009

The board of Directors of have recently undertaken a review of the past consolidated financial statements of TZ Limited 
with a view to substantiating the assets and liabilities to be reported in the financial statements for the year ended 30 
June 2010. 

The investigative work performed included a review dating back to the 2004 Financial Statements, specifically in relation 
to the reverse takeover of Telezygology Inc. on 8 January 2004 and scrutinizing the accounting entries that were 
recorded at the time that have impacted the financial statements on and since that date.
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4. CORRECTION OF ERRORS (continued)

The key areas of interest throughout the review were:

·         the acquisition of Telezygology Inc. in 2004;

·         the acquisition of PDT Holdings Inc. in 2005;

·         the re-acquisition of the Intevia Licence in 2007, and 

·         various consolidation entries that have been recorded over the years. 

Details of the errors that were identified and corrected are below:

4.1(a) Acquisition of Telezygology Inc - 8 January 2004

4.1(b) Acquisition of PDT Holdings Inc. (“PDT”) 11 March 2005

The Directors have written to the previous board members, the previous accountant and the previous auditor requesting 
additional information regarding these transctions. At the date of this report, no responses have been received that 
would indicate that the treatment that was adopted for the purposes of the Preliminary Final Report for the year ended 
30 June 2010 that was lodged with the ASX on 31 August 2010, which resulted in a $25m write down of the 
consolidated group intangible assets, was unwarranted. Therefore, the corrections have been carried through to the 
annual report, and are included in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010.

The consideration for the transaction included the issue of 70,734,446 ordinary shares in TZL with a value of $0.11 per 
share, being the market value immediately prior to the consolidation, adjusted for the two 5:1 share conversions that 
occurred.

The transaction was reported in the financial statements using a value per share of $0.25. This anomaly resulted in the 
goodwill generated by the transaction being overstated in the financial statements by $9,902,822 (70,734,446 x $0.14). 
This was corrected against issued capital.

The audited US financial statements of PDT for the financial year ended 30 June 2005 and for the half yearly accounts 
for the period ended 31 December 2005 report that 'push-down' accounting was applied in accounting for the acquisition 
of PDT by TZL. 

Push-down accounting is a mandatory method of accounting under US GAAP whereby the financial statements of the 
acquired subsidiary reflect the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired, and the goodwill which would have otherwise 
been recognised on consolidation is therefore recognised in the subsidiary’s books.

Intangible assets relating to the acquisition were therefore brought to account in the PDT financial statements at fair 
value. As Australian GAAP (AIFRS) does not provide for push-down accounting, on consolidation the entries should be 
reversed in the subsidiary’s books and recorded at a consolidated level. 

The review of this transaction indicates that the goodwill on acquisition arising on consolidation of $7,161,384 appears 
to have previously (2009 and prior years) been be double counted given the amounts recorded in PDT’s own statement 
of financial position do not appear to have been eliminated. This amount is not substantiated by any of the documents 
that have been reviewed from the time of the transaction. Therefore, on consolidation $7,161,384 of goodwill has been 
credited against retained earnings to correct this apparent error.

In addition, an amount of $6,466,991 for goodwill arising from the PDT acquisition has been historically classified as 
intellectual property in the group financial statements.  As such, a reclassification has been made of $6,466,991 from 
intellectual property to goodwill.

The investigative work that was performed indicated that the accounting for these transactions was either done 
incorrectly, or that insufficient records have been maintained to enable the substantiation of the amounts recorded.
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4. CORRECTION OF ERRORS (continued)

4.1(c)  Reacquisition of the Intevia Licence 22 January 2007

4.1 (d) Various consolidation entries recorded in the financial statements

The terms of the Convertible Note Subscription Deed are such that the note holders are able to convert to equity at the 
conversion date at the lower of: (a) the agreed conversion price; and (b) the issue price of any subsequent share issue 
during the term of the convertible note.

The convertible notes, as a result of this clause which eliminates the note holders equity risk, are therefore debt 
instruments which host an embedded derivative in accordance with AASB 132.

Upon inception, the derivative element of the convertible note is separated and valued in accordance with AASB 139. 
Thereafter the derivative is valued at the end of each reporting period, with any  movment in the fair value reported 
through the profit and loss. The debt portion is measured at fair value upon inception and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. The accounting above has not been performed correctly in prior years.

As a result of the change in recognition described above and at note 1 (w)(iii), tax effect accounting has been corrected 
accordingly. As a result defered tax liabilities have reduced from $799,082 to $Nil.

The error has been corrected by restating each of the affected financial statement line items for the previous year. This 
resulted in an increase in interest expense of $1,177,373, a decrease in convertible note liability of $12,933,431, an 
increase in derivative instrument liability of $712,200, a decrease in equity of $2,368,394 and the recognition of a 
$13,798,200 gain in the movement of the fair value of the derivative liability. 

4.2 Amendment to the terms of Convertible Notes issued

TZI and Textron Inc. (“Textron”) had an agreement regarding the use by Textron of intellectual property owned by TZI. 
This right was effectively reacquired by TZI on 22 January 2007 for consideration of USD$200,000 plus costs of 
USD$25,645 (AUD$279,066) and the issue of 19,362,404 ordinary shares in TZL.

The share price used to value the ordinary shares issued as consideration appears to correctly reflect the listed share 
price at the date of the transaction, being $0.56.  However, deferred acquisition costs of $2.6m and other amounts 
totalling $1,017,224 are recorded in the books of TZL and the consolidated entity respectively as a result of this 
acquisition. These amounts could not be substantiated by the work performed.

Furthermore, the Intevia Licence has historically been reported as Goodwill in the consolidated entity, and after 
reviewing the available information it would seem more appropriate to record the asset as a reacquired right in the 
financial statements of TZI. As such, a reclassification has been made of $10,037,718 from goodwill to a reacquired 
right. 

A number of journal entries have been recorded over the years on consolidation of the TZL Group which have resulted 
in a carrying amount of intellectual property. From the books and records available, the nature of many of these entries 
is unclear and unsupported. 

The review of this transaction has indicated that the accounting for the purchase has resulted in an overstatement of 
consolidated intangible assets of $3,299,433, being the difference between the amount previously reported $14,421,445 
and the amount calculated in the review of $11,122,012. This error has been corrected by debiting accumulated losses 
and crediting intangible assets.

The net impact on the financial statements of these unsupported consolidation entries is a $5,005,677 overstatement of 
intangible assets, and accumulated losses. This apparent error has been corrected by debiting accumulated losses and 
crediting intangible assets.
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4. CORRECTION OF ERRORS (continued)

4.3 Capitalisation of Development Costs

4.4 Amortisation of the Intevia Licence

4.5 Withholding Tax on Interest Payable

4.6 Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

4.7 Share Based Payment Expense 

4.8 Share issue costs adjustment

During the period 19 March 2005 to 30 June 2009 development costs in the amount of $601,899 were incorrectly 
expensed. During the the preparation of the Finanical Statements for the year ended 30 June 2010, this error was 
identified and has been corrected in the prior period by reducing accumulated losses by the net of the development 
costs and accumulated amortisation of $44,238, and increasing Intangible Assets in the Statement of Financial 
Performance.

The useful life of the Intevia Licence has been reassessed as finite and it is being amortised over 13.5 years. An 
adjustment has been recorded in the prior period to bring to account $1,906,765 in amortisation up to and including 30 
June 2009. $846,879 was recorded as amortisation expense in 2009 and the balance of $1,059,886 was recorded 
against accumulated losses.

Under the terms of the Convertible Note Subscription Deed, in the event that withholding tax is payable on any interest 
payments to QVT, TZ Limited is required to gross up the interest payments such that QVT receives the same amount of 
interest that would have been received if withholding tax was not applicable. The comparatives have been restated to 
show accrued withholding tax and additional interest expense for the year ended 30 June 2009 of $290,322 and accrued 
withholding tax and increased accumulated losses of $88,938 for the year ended 30 June 2008.

Furthermore, the Deed provides that in the event that QVT receives a benefit, in the form of a tax credit, QVT will 
reimburse TZ Limited for this amount. A contingent asset has been recorded at Note 21.

A review of the movements in the foreign currency translation reserve has been undertaken and based on the 
information available, the balance of the foreign currency translation reserve has been restated at 30 June 2009. There 
is no impact on the net assets of the company with the increase in the foreign currency translation reserve of $3,555,403 
resulting in an increase in accumulated losses.

Unsubstantiated share issue costs of $11,049,675 have been reclassified by crediting issued capital and debiting 
accumulated losses as management felt this was the most conservative treatment in the circumstances.

A review of share based payments for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 was undertaken which has resulted in the 
recognition of share based payments expense in 2009 of $2,294,221. Further details are in Note 26.
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2010 2009

$ $

5. INCOME TAX

Deferred tax expense

Deferred tax (benefit)/expense (165,429) 445,838

(165,429)            445,838 

(7,953,825) (7,188,798)

Tax Effect:

Tax losses not recognised 8,278,787 7,601,508 

Difference in overseas tax rates (490,391) 33,128 

Income tax (benefit)/expense attributable to result (165,429) 445,838

The taxation benefits of tax losses and timing differences not brought to account will only be obtained if:

(b)   conditions for deductibility imposed by the law are complied with; and

(c)    no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from the deductions.

Deferred tax assets

Amounts recognised in profit or loss                     -                        -   

Doubtful debts 59,424 50,353 

Allowance / reserve (380,346) (950,727)

Fixed assets 155,174                      -   

Other intangibles 114,663 89,788 

Tax losses 686,309 1,218,682 

635,224 408,096

The amount provided in respect of income tax differs from the amount prima facie payable on the operating result. The 
difference is reconciled as follows:

Consolidated Entity

Deferred tax assets comprise temporary differences attributable to:

(a)   assessable income is derived of a nature and of amount sufficient to enable the benefit from the deductions to be 
realised;

Prima facie income tax on the operating result before income tax at 30% (2009: 
30%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

5. INCOME TAX (continued) 2010 2009

$ $

Deferred tax liabilities

Amounts recognised in profit or loss                     -                        -   

Fixed assets                     -   70,674 

Goodwill 829,091 711,842 

829,091 782,516

6. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Continuing Operations

(26,347,322) (24,408,497)

53,268,007 48,520,421 

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current:

Trade Debtors 3,993,048 2,496,198

Allowance for doubtful debts (152,565) (129,276)

Sundry Debtors (a)                     -   35,669

3,840,483 2,402,591

Other Debtors and Prepayments 642,018 431,948

4,482,501 2,834,539

(a) Assets subject to impairment 

Sundry Debtors        6,205,945         6,205,945 

Loans to related parties & other advances                           9,544,052         9,544,052 

Less impairment provision    (15,749,997)     (15,749,997) 

Net carrying value                       -                        - 

8. WORK IN PROGRESS

Uncompleted / Unbilled Jobs 567,393 687,107

The value of Sundry Debtors, Loans to related parties and other advances were reviewed for impairment at 30 June 
2009 and 30 June 2010. These loans were fully provided against these balances for the year ended 30 June 2009, and 
recoverability remains uncertain at 30 June 2010. The Group is currently pursuing recovery of $13.2m of the above 
balances which relate to loans to former directors and their related parties (Refer Note 21), and a Supreme Court 
hearing is scheduled to commence 22 November 2010.

For the purpose calculating the diluted earnings per share the denominator has excluded the number of options as the 
effect would be anti-dilutive. 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue used in the calculation of 
basic earnings per share:

Also included in current receivables are the following assets that are subject to impairment losses:

Earnings used in the calculation of basic and dilutive from continuing operations

Deferred tax liabilities comprise temporary differences attributable to:

Consolidated Entity
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

$ $

Office Furniture and Equipment 349,592                 554,050 

Leasehold Improvements 937,557              1,444,782 

Motor Vehicles  -                     5,657 

Plant & Equipment 687,143              1,022,694 

Total Property, Plant & Equipment (a) 1,974,292 3,027,183

Total Cost 6,147,381 6,661,351

Accumulated Depreciation (4,173,088) (3,634,165)

Total Property, Plant & Equipment 1,974,293 3,027,185

Movements During the Year

Office Furniture and Equipment

Beginning of Year 554,050 656,332 

Additions 136,318 152,420 

Disposals (18,650) (2,782)

Depreciation Expense (285,243) (363,983)

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (36,883) 112,063 

End of Year 349,592 554,050

Leasehold Improvements

Beginning of Year 1,444,782 1,173,248 

Additions 79,444 367,763 

Disposals (108,021)                          -   

Depreciation Expense (380,360) (310,796)

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (98,288) 214,566 

End of Year 937,557 1,444,782

Motor Vehicles

Beginning of Year 5,657 24,337 

Depreciation Expense (5,144) (24,465)

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (513) 5,786 

End of Year - 5,657

Plant & Equipment

Beginning of Year 1,022,694 732,283 

Additions 124,467 420,533 

Disposals (66,375)                          -   

Depreciation Expense (316,535) (278,271)

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (77,108) 148,149 

End of Year 687,143 1,022,694

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Consolidated Entity

(a) QVT Fund LP and Quintessence Fund L.P. ("QVT") entered a loan agreement with Telezygology Inc. on 13 July 
2010. The Loan Facility is secured by a first ranking charge over all of the assets of the Company. Refer to Note 24 
for the material terms of the loan. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009 (1)

10. INTANGIBLES $ $

Goodwill 10,847,635 11,525,942

Other Intangible Assets 12,353,810 12,789,235

Trade Names 1,341,617 1,511,818

Total Intangibles (a) 24,543,062 25,826,995

Movements During the Year

Goodwill

Beginning of Year 11,525,942 10,756,714

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (678,306) 769,228 

End of Year 10,847,636 11,525,942

Other Intangible Assets (b)

Beginning of Year (c) 12,789,235 13,441,518

Additions - capitalised development costs 1,582,477                          -   

Additions - other 19,752 451,895

Amortisation Expense (1,240,900) (1,062,170)

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (796,753) (42,008)

End of Year 12,353,810 12,789,235

Trade Names

Beginning of Year 1,511,818 1,281,780

Additions                          -   21,175

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (170,201) 208,863 

End of Year 1,341,617 1,511,818

(a) QVT Fund LP and Quintessence Fund L.P. ("QVT") entered a loan agreement with Telezygology Inc. on 13 July 
2010. The Loan Facility is secured by a first ranking charge over all of the assets of the Company. Refer to Note 24 
for the material terms of the loan. 

Consolidated Entity

(b) Intevia Licence - included in the opening balance of other intangible assets is technology and know how that is 
collectively refered to as the 'Intevia Licence'. The right to exploit this technology was reacquired from Textron Inc 
(Note 4.1c) on 22 January 2007. The licence is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and is being amortised 
over its useful life of 13.5 years.

(1) The opening balance sheet for the year ended 30 June 2009 was restated which resulted in a decrease of 
$26,634,701 in the carrying value of intangible assets. Refer to Note 4 for further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

10. INTANGIBLES (continued) $ $

(c) Movement of Other Intangible Assets during the year:

Re-acquired Right  (Intevia Licence)

Opening carrying amount 8,679,066 9,463,202 

Amortisation expense (717,278) (846,879)

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (536,403) 62,743 

End of Year 7,425,385 8,679,066

Patents

Opening carrying amount 1,402,445 970,024 

Additions 19,751 451,895 

Amortisation expense (108,208) (21,033)

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (86,350) 1,558 

End of Year 1,227,638 1,402,445

Development Costs

Opening carrying amount                          -                            -   

Additions 1,582,477                          -   

Amortisation expense (142,170)                          -   

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (5,014)                          -   

End of Year 1,435,293                          -   

Customer Relationships

Opening carrying amount 2,707,724 3,008,292 

Additions                          -                            -   

Amortisation expense (273,244) (324,618)

Net Foreign Currency Adjustment on Translation (168,987) 24,050 

End of Year 2,265,493 2,707,724

Goodwill and trade names (indefinite lives) have been allocated 
to the following cash-generating units:

2010 2009

Carrying amounts of goodwill and trade names $ $

PDT Holdings Inc 7,428,023 7,978,809 

Telezygology Inc 4,761,229 5,058,950 

12,189,252 13,037,759 

Consolidated Entity

Consolidated

Impairment Testing of Cash-generating Units Containing Goodwill
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

10. INTANGIBLES (continued) $ $

Other intangible assets have been allocated to  the following 
cash-generating units:

Carrying amounts of other intangible assets

PDT Holdings Inc 2,538,853 2,989,151 

Telezygology Inc 9,814,957 9,800,084 

12,353,810 12,789,235 

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for PDT Holdings Inc are as follows:

PDT Holdings Inc:

•       Discount rate

The discount rate used was 16.7% 

This rate was calculated using a model based on the weighted cost of debt and equity.

•       Gross Margins

Budgeted gross profit margins are between 28.4% and 29.6%.

Historically Gross Profit Margin has been approximately 30%

•       Revenue growth rates

2011 10%

2012 – 2015 5%

Management believes these growth rates are conservative and they are confident the forecasted revenue growth can 
be achieved. Revenue growth for the year ended 30 June 2010 was 18%.

Management determined budgeted gross margin is based on past performance and its expectations for the future. 
Discount rates used are pre-tax and are specific to relevant segments and countries in which they operate.

The recoverable amount of the goodwill and trade names of PDT is estimated to be $15,282,060 which exceeds the 
carrying amount at 30 June 2010 by $7,854,037. If a discount rate of 28.6% was used instead of 16.7%, the 
recoverable amount of goodwill and trade names would equal the carrying amount.

Consolidated

The recoverable amount of all cash-generating units is based on value-in-use calculations which use cash flow 
projections based on budgets approved by management covering a 5 year period. The growth rate used in these 
budgets does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business in which cash-generating units operate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

10. INTANGIBLES (continued)

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for Telezygology Inc are as follows:

Telezygology Inc:

•       Discount rate

The discount rate used was 16.5% 

This rate was calculated using a model based on the weighted cost of debt and equity.

•       Gross Margins

Budgeted gross profit margins are between 51.2% and 60.3%.

For the year ended 30 June 2010 the Gross Profit Margin was 64.2%

•       Revenue growth rates

2011 655%

2012 140%

2013 84%

2014 57%

2015 37%

Management determined budgeted gross margin is based on expectations for the future after redetermining the 
product strategy for TZI and securing commercial partnerships for distribution. Discount rates used are pre-tax and 
are specific to relevant segments and countries in which they operate.

The recoverable amount of the intangibles assets of TZI is estimated to be $22,620,537 which exceeds the carrying 
amount at 30 June 2010 by $8,044,351. If a discount rate of 44.4% was used instead of 16.5%, the recoverable 
amount of goodwill would equal the carrying amount.

Management believes these growth rates are achievable and they are confident the forecasted revenue growth can 
be achieved. 

The revenue growth rate for 2011 is based on management forecasts, with subsequent years projecting 
forward from the forecasted base.

The forecasted and projected revenues for upcoming financial years show significant growth, and an overall sales 
level well above what TZI has experienced previously. There are several factors contributing to the workup of the 
financial information, and the material points are noted below:

•       The data centre micro-security market is estimated to be a $1.5 billion market that will grow at 4%-6% 
annually in the near term.

•       Fomalisation of commercial partnerships with the signing of key distribution and reseller agreements.

•       TZI's products/solutions for these business units have only recently been commercialised, with little or 
no sales in prior financial years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

11. PAYABLES 2010 2009 (1)

$ $

Current

Trade Payables 2,348,825 2,370,043

Interest Payable 951,522 3,267,945

Sundry Payables 996,588 847,831

Deferred Revenue 530,705                      -   

Lease Incentive Liability 111,110 107,246

Employee Expense Payables 298,747 286,930

Total Current Payables 5,237,497 6,879,995

Non-Current

Lease Incentive Liability 533,130 684,536

12. PROVISIONS 

The nature of provisions is discussed at Note 1 (j).

Current

Employee Entitlements 86,500 103,961

Current

Bank Loans - Secured (a) 741,356 1,292,467

          5,177,857         8,260,861 

             745,834            712,200 

Total Current Borrowings 6,665,047 10,265,528

Non-Current

          5,897,218                        - 

          8,316,124                        - 

14,213,342                      -   

Consolidated Entity

The above amounts all relate to normal unsecured creditors incurred in the normal course of the Company’s business 
operations and are within the credit terms of each relevant supplier or service provider, except for interest payable which 
relates to the company's convertible notes as discussed in Note 13.

13. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Derivative Instrument Liabilities (b) 

Convertible Note - Debt portion (b)

Convertible Note - Debt portion (b)

Derivative Instrument Liabilities (b) 

(1)The opening balance sheet for the year ended 30 June 2009 was restated which resulted in an increase of $97,167 in 
the carrying value of trade and other payables. Refer to Note 4 for further details.

(1) The opening balance sheet for the year ended 30 June 2009 was restated which resulted in a decrease of $658,094 in 
the carrying value of other financial liabilities. Refer to Note 4 for further details.
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(a) Bank Loan

(b) Convertible Notes

Series I

Series II

Series III

As per the terms above the current conversion price of all three series of convertible notes is $0.39, being the value of the 
most recent share issue for TZ Limited. Refer to Note 4.2 and Note 1(v) and 1(w)(iii) for further details.

On 18 June 2009 an agreement was entered into with the noteholder under which the terms of payment for the 
outstanding interest were renegotiated to 17 July 2009, the default notice was withdrawn (subject to certain 
conditions) and good faith negotiations were to be entered into in relation to the orderly repayment of the outstanding 
debt. 

The bank loans are secured by a mortgage over the assets of PDT Inc Group.

On 31 December 2008 as a result of the company’s failure to pay interest due to the noteholder of $2,213,333 the 
company was in default of certain conditions associated with the convertible note deed and in accordance with its 
rights under the deed, on 1 June 2009 the lender issued a notice requiring the company to redeem the convertible 
notes amounting to $24,000,000 plus any accrued interest. 

The company subsequently reached an agreement with the lender in order to remedy the default and renegotiate the 
terms of the convertible note deed, which was approved by the company’s shareholders at the 2009 annual general 
meeting. The 24,000 convertible notes held by QVT were reorganised so that the conversion price was reduced from 
$4.00 per ordinary share in the company to $1.00 per ordinary share for 12,000 convertible notes and to $1.20 per 
ordinary share for the remaining 12,000 notes.

1,714 Series III convertible notes with a face value of $1,000 were issued under the terms of an Issue and 
Amendment Deed with QVT Funds dated 23 April 2010.  The notes have a five year term and are convertible at a 
variable rate, being the lesser of: (i) $1.00; and (ii) the issue price of any subsequent share issue during the terms of 
the convertible notes. Interest will accrue on each Series III note at 10% per annum, payable on 31 December each 
year.

As at 30 June 2009, as the company did not have a right at the year end to defer settlement for a period of atleast 12 
months after the end of the reporting period, the convertible notes were classified as current liabilities.

The convertible notes were issued under the terms of the convertible note subscription deed dated 16 July 2009 and 
amended 13 October 2009.  Up until 30 June 2010, 5,241,000 were issued each with a face value of $1. The notes 
have a fixed expiry date of 15 July 2010 and are convertible at the lesser of: (i) $1.00; and (ii) the lowest price at which 
ordinary shares may be issued by TZL after 15 July 2009 and prior to conversion.Interest will accrue on each Series II 
Convertible Note at 10% per annum, payable annually in arrears or on the date the Convertible Note is redeemed. 

Subsequent to the reporting date on 15 July 2010 the company announced that (a) 3,918,500 convertible notes had 
been converted into 10,000,924 ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.42 per share; (b) the conversion of 822,500 
convertible notes would take place at a conversion price of $0.3913 once and if any necessary shareholders 
approvals are obtained at the 2010 AGM; and (c) the remaining 500,000 convertible notes would be redeemed by the 
company on 13 October 2010. Furthermore, on 22 July 2010, a further 90,000 convertible notes were converted to 
228,836 ordinary shares at $0.42 per share. After this conversion, a balance of 732,500 convertible notes will convert 
at a later time as identified in (b) above.

The convertible notes were issued under the terms of a Convertible Note and Option Subscription Deed dated 24 
December 2007. 24,000 notes were issued each with a face value of $1,000. The notes have a 5 year term, were 
convertible at the lower of (a) the agreed conversion price; and (b) the issue price of any subsequent share issue 
during the terms of the convertible notes. At the time of issue the conversion price was $4 per share. The notes pay 
interest at a rate of 10%. 

13. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued)

The unused facility at 30 June 2010 was $632,585 (2009: $167,387). Refer note 22 (c) 
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2010 2009 (1)

14. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY $ $

Fully paid ordinary shares (i) 125,906,786 114,726,786

Other contributed equity (ii) 4,768,470 -

130,675,256 114,726,786

(i) Fully paid ordinary shares

Opening Balance 1 July 2009 114,726,786 113,726,786

Shares Issued During the Year:

16 June 2009 (a)                           -   1,000,000

7/01/2010 (b) 1,050,000                           -   

30/06/2010 (c) 50,000                           -   

26/03/2010 (d) 10,080,000                           -   

Closing Balance 30 June 2010 125,906,786 114,726,786

No. No.

Opening Balance 1 July 2009 49,479,325 48,479,325

16 June 2009 (a)                           -   1,000,000

7/01/2010 (b) 1,250,000                           -   

30/06/2010 (c) 119,048                           -   

26/03/2010 (d) 12,000,000                           -   

Closing Balance 30 June 2010 62,848,373 49,479,325

(ii) Other contributed equity

Fair value of shares to be issued to settle:

 - 2008 & 2009 Interest on Convertible Notes of $4,477,808 3,761,360 -

 - costs paid by QVT on behalf of the Group totalling $1,198,941 1,007,110                           -   

4,768,470                           -   

Consolidated Entity

(b)    The Company issued 1,250,000 fully paid ordinary shares.  The fair value of the shares was calculated to be 
$1,050,000 being the 1,250,000 ordinary shares multiplied by $0.84, the deemed fair value of shares on 26 February 
2010, the deemed settlement date. 

(a)    The Company issued 1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares for $1.00 each.

Fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends. Ordinary Shares have no par value.

In accordance with resolution 9(c) from the 2009 AGM, the Company agreed to issue QVT shares to settle amounts 
outstanding in relation to the 2008 and 2009 interest payments and costs paid by QVT on behalf of the Company. At the 
date of this report these shares have not been issued, however, for reporting purposes, the liabilities were extinguished 
and replaced by other contributed equity based on the deemed fair value of the shares at extinguishment date (26 
February 2010)

(c)    The Company issued 119,048 fully paid ordinary shares for $0.42 each.

(d)    As approved by shareholders at the 2009 Annual General Meeting, the Company converted 12,000 Series I 
Convertible Notes with a total face value of $12,000,000 to 12,000,000 ordinary shares. The fair value of the shares was 
calculated to be $10,080,000 being the 12,000,000 ordinary shares multiplied by $0.84, the deemed fair value of shares 
on 26 March 2010, the date the conversion notice was received and the shares were issued.
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2010 2009

14. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued) No. No.

(iii) Unquoted Options

Opening Balance 10,508,541 9,508,541

Options Issued

17 June 2009 (e) - 1,000,000

26 February 2010 (g) 5,700,000                           -   

5 March 2010 (f) 150,000                           -   

Options Exercised

Up to 30 June 2009  -                           -   

Up to 30 June 2010                           -    - 

Options Expired / Forfeited

Up to 30 June 2009                           -   -

Up to 30 June 2010 (5,715,500)                           -   

Closing Balance 10,643,041 10,508,541

(iv) Rights

No. No.

Opening Balance  -                           -   

Rights Issued

27 February 2010 (g) 3,000,000 -

Rights Exercised

Up to 30 June 2010                           -    - 

Rights Expired / Forfeited

Up to 30 June 2010 (120,000)                           -   

Closing Balance 2,880,000                           -   

(e) The Company issued 1,000,000 options to subscribe for 1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares at an exercise price of 
$0.75 at any time before the expiry date of 15 June 2010.

Consolidated Entity

(g) In accordance with resolutions 12, 13 and 15 of the 2009 AGM, rights were granted to the Directors under the 
Director and Executive Equity Plan. The grant of rights formed part of the remuneration of the Directors and was based 
upon advice from an independent remuneration consultant. A total of 3,000,000 rights were granted with a zero exercise 
price. Of the total, 1,480,000 were exercisable immediately after approval was given at the AGM, and 120,000 were 
forfeited. The balance of 1,400,000 is subject to the satisfaction of a Performance Hurdle and exercisable from and 
including 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012 provided the Performance Hurdle is satisfied. Refer to Remuneration Report for 
Performance Hurdle details.

(f) The Company issued 150,000 options to subscribe for 150,000 fully paid ordinary shares at an exercise price of $1.00 
at any time before the expiry date of 29 March 2011.

(g) The Company granted a total of 5,700,000 options to the Directors under the Director and Executive Equity Plan 
which was approved by shareholders at the 2009 Annual General Meeting.  These have been included in the 2010 share 
based payment, refer Note 26.

(1) The opening balance sheet for the year ended 30 June 2009 was restated which resulted in an increase of 
$4,446,285 in the carrying value of contributed equity. Refer to Note 4 for further details.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

14. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (continued)

(v)    Uncalled Capital

(vi)     Terms and Conditions of Unquoted Options

(vii)    Capital Management

Gearing Ratios 2010 2009

$ $

Net debt 20,646,031 9,699,710 

Total equity 4,870,224 14,633,203 

Total capital 25,516,255 24,332,913 

Gearing Ratio 81% 40%

Net debt is comprised of cash less other financial liabilities.

The Group’s gearing ratio at the balance sheet date is shown below :

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to ensure that the Group can fund its operations and continue as 
a going concern. Its capital includes ordinary share capital; share options and reserves; and financial liabilities, 
supported by financial assets.

In managing its capital, the Group’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent return for 
its equity shareholders through a combination of capital growth and distributions through payment of dividends to its 
shareholders.  In order to achieve this objective, the Group seeks to maintain a gearing ratio that balances risks and 
returns at an acceptable level and also to maintain a sufficient funding base to enable the Group to meet its working 
capital and strategic investment needs.  In making decisions to adjust its capital structure to achieve these aims, either 
through altering its dividend policy, new share issues, or the reduction of debt, the Group considers not only its short-
term position but also its long-term operational and strategic objectives.

The gearing ratio has increased significantly as a result of (a) the increase in fair value of the derivative liabilities; (b) the 
amortisation of the convertible note debt portion and issue of Series II & III notes; and (c) current year losses. 

No calls are outstanding at year end. All issued shares are fully paid.

All unquoted options are held by the group's lenders, prior or current Directors, employees and consultants to the 
Company or their associates. Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid share in the Company at the 
exercise price per share at any time from the date of issue until expiry of the options subject to various vesting dates.

Consolidated Entity
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009 (1) 

15. RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES $ $

Reserves

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve (706,147) 999,648 

Total Reserves (706,147) 999,648 

Movements During the Year:

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve

Opening Balance 999,648 (318,018)

Adjustment Arising from the Translation of Foreign Controlled Entities’ 
Financial Statements (1,705,795) 1,317,666 

Closing Balance (706,147) 999,648 

Accumulated Losses

Opening Balance (101,093,231) (78,978,955)

(Loss) attributable to owners of the parent entity (26,347,322) (24,408,497)

Share based payment expense 2,341,668 2,294,221 

Closing Balance (125,098,885) (101,093,231)

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences on translation of foreign controlled 
subsidiaries. The reserve is recognised in the income statement when the investment is disposed of. 

Consolidated Entity

(1) The opening balance sheet for the year ended 30 June 2009 was restated which resulted in a decrease of 
$4,932,408 in the carrying value of foreign exchange reserve and an increase of $28,030,057 in the carrying value of 
accumulated losses. Refer to Note 4 for further details.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

16. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES

(a) Directors

The names of persons who were Directors of the Company at any time during the year are:

(i)     Non–Executive Director

Mr. Willem de Vlugt Resigned 31 May 2010

(ii)    Executive Directors 

Mr. Mark Bouris Appointed 18 June 2009

Mr. Kenneth Ting Appointed 18 June 2009

Mr. Dickory Rudduck Appointed 14 May 2010

(b) Other Key Management Personnel

Mr. Mark Schwartz President and CEO, PDT Holdings Inc. 

Mr. Dickory Rudduck Chief Technical Officer, Telezygology Inc. 

Mr. John Wilson President and CEO, Telezygology Inc. (appointed 17 May 2010)

Mr. Timothy Koehler Chief Financial Officer, Telezygology Inc. and PDT Holdings Inc.

Mr. John Freese Chief Operating Officer, Telezygology Inc. (until 17 May 2010)

Mr. Robert Pagorek Chief Financial Officer, Telezygology Inc. ( resigned 10 August 2010)

(c) Key Management Personnel Compensation 2010 2009

$ $

The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, 
directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Consolidated Entity

81

Short–Term Benefits 1,938,971 3,516,840

Other Benefits - Long Term 16,566 38,583

Share–Based Payments 2,214,711                -   

Total 4,170,248 3,555,423

(d) Equity Instrument Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel

(i)      Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such options

Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with terms and 
conditions of the options, can be found in section 4 of the remuneration report contained in the Directors report.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

(d) Equity Instrument Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel (continued)

(ii)     Option holdings

Opening Granted as Options Options Closing Vested & Unvested

Balance Compensation Expired Exercised Balance Exercisable

2010

Non–Executive Directors

Willem de Vlugt*                   -                 450,000   (450,000)                          -                   -                      -                  - 

Executive Directors

Mark Bouris                   -             3,000,000                  -                          -    3,000,000                      -   3,000,000 

Kenneth Ting                   -             2,250,000                  -                          -    2,250,000                      -   2,250,000 

Dickory Rudduck         10,000                             -                  -                          -         10,000            10,000                  - 

Key Management Personnel

Mark Schwartz 85,000                                    -                  -                          -         85,000            85,000                  - 

Timothy Koehler 35,000                                    -                  -                          -         35,000            35,000                  - 

John Freese * 172,500                                  -                  -                          -       172,500          172,500                  - 

John Wilson                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

Robert Pagorek *         66,666                             -                  -                          -         66,666            66,666                  - 

369,166 5,700,000 (450,000)                          - 5,619,166 369,166 5,250,000

2009

Non-Executive Directors

Michael Otten** 200,000                             -                  -                          - 200,000 200,000                  - 

Willem de Vlugt                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

The number of options over ordinary shares in the Group held during the financial year by Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel of the Group, including their related parties, are set out below.

82

Executive Directors

Mark Bouris                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

Kenneth Ting                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

Andrew Sigalla**                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

John Falconer** 200,000                             -                  -                          - 200,000 200,000                  - 

Key Management Personnel

Chris Kelliher                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

David Feber** 600,000                             -                  -                          - 600,000 600,000

Dickory Rudduck                 -                     10,000                  -                          - 10,000 10,000                  - 

Mark Schwartz 75,000                   10,000                  -                          - 85,000 85,000                  - 

Robert Pagorek **                   -                   66,666                  -                          - 66,666 66,666                  - 

John Freese 35,000                 137,500                  -                          - 172,500 172,500                  - 

Timothy Koehler 25,000                   10,000                  -                          - 35,000 25,000 10,000

1,135,000                 234,166                  -                          - 1,369,166 1,359,166 10,000

* Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2010 and no longer as a member of key management personnel.

** Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2009 and no longer as a member of key management personnel.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

(d) Equity Instrument Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel (continued)

(iii)     Rights 

Opening Granted as Rights Rights Closing Vested & Unvested

Balance Compensation Expired Exercised Balance Exercisable

30 June 2010

Non–Executive Directors

Willem de Vlugt*                   -                 200,000 (120,000)                            -         80,000            80,000                  - 

Executive Directors

Mark Bouris                   -             1,600,000                  - -                            1,600,000          800,000      800,000 

Kenneth Ting                   -             1,200,000                  - -                            1,200,000          600,000      600,000 

Dickory Rudduck                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

Key Management Personnel

Mark Schwartz                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

Timothy Koehler                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

John Freese                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

John Wilson                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

Robert Pagorek *                   -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -                  - 

                  -             3,000,000 (120,000)                            - 2,880,000       1,480,000 1,400,000

* Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2010 and no longer as a member of key management personnel.

** Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2009 and no longer as a member of key management personnel.

Based on the information that is available, no rights were granted or held during the period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009.

The number of rights issued in the Group to Directors and other Key Management Personnel of the Group, including their 
related parties, are set out below.
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Based on the information that is available, no rights were granted or held during the period 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

(e) Shareholdings

Opening 

Balance

Granted as 

Compensation

Other 

Changes

Received in 

period on 

exercise of 

rights/options

Closing 

Balance

Balance Held 

Nominally

30 June 2010

Non–Executive Directors

Willem de Vlugt*                   -                           -                  -                          -                     -                      - 

Executive Directors

Mark Bouris                   -                           -                  -                          -                     -                      - 

Kenneth Ting         72,725                           -                  -                          -           72,725                      - 

Dickory Rudduck 1,100,000                             -   (107,502)                        -         992,498          978,596 

Key Management Personnel

Mark Schwartz         80,016                           -                  -                          -           80,016            80,016 

Timothy Koehler                   -                           -                  -                          -                     -                      - 

John Freese *           5,000                           -                  -                          -             5,000              5,000 

John Wilson         58,142                           -                  -                          -           58,142            58,142 

   1,315,883                           -   -    107,502                        -      1,208,381       1,121,754 

30 June 2009

Non–Executive Directors

Michael Otten**         38,640                           -                  -                          -           38,640            38,640 

Willem de Vlugt                 -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -   

Executive Directors                           -   

The numbers of shares in the Group held during the financial year by Directors and other Key Management Personnel of the 
Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below. There were no shares granted during the reporting period 
as compensation.
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Executive Directors                           -   

Mark Bouris                 -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -   

Kenneth Ting                 -                             -          72,725                        -           72,725                    -   

Andrew Sigalla**    1,362,950                           -        696,589                        -      2,059,539       2,059,514 

John Falconer**       395,273                           -        213,000                        -         608,273          608,273 

Key Management Personnel

Chris Kelliher       413,035                           -                  -                          -         413,035          413,035 

David Feber**                 -                             -                  -                          -                   -                      -   

Dickory Rudduck    1,340,000                           -   (240,000)                        -      1,100,000       1,100,000 

Mark Schwartz       126,016                           -   (46,000)                        -           80,016            80,016 

John Freese                 -   5,000                        -             5,000              5,000 

   3,675,914                           -        701,314                        -      4,377,228       4,304,478 

* Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2010 and no longer as a member of key management personnel.

** Resigned during the year ended 30 June 2009 and no longer as a member of key management personnel.

Loans to Key Management Personnel

No loans have been advanced to Key Management Personnel for the year ended 30 June 2010. 

Various funds were withdrawn from the Company by Key Management Personnel and their related parties during the period 
up to and including 30 June 2009. These amounts are subject to litigation and further details are not provided at this time. 
The loans have been fully provided against until the outcome of the litigation is known. Refer to Notes 7 (a) and 21 for 
additional information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Transactions with Related Parties of Key Management Personnel

i) Accounting Services 

ii) Consultancy Services

iii) Rent and Serviced Office Expenditure

iv) Insurance 

v) Travel 

The above transactions are all undertaken on mutually agreed terms and conditions.

No security is held over any related party balance owing and the amounts will be settled in cash.

Accounting fees charged by Dunbar Associates Pty Limited (John Falconer) for the year ended 30 June 2010 
were $Nil (2009: $322,720)

Consultancy fees charged by No Compromises Pty Limited (Michael Otten) for the year ended 30 June 2010 
were $Nil (2009:$160,000) 

Rent and serviced office expenditure paid to State Capital Property Pty Limited (Mark Bouris) relating to TZ 
Limited's registered office at Level 11, 1 Chifley Square Sydney for the year ended 30 June 2010 was $140,931 
(2009: $Nil)

The following transactions occurred with entities that are either controlled by key management personnel or where 
key management personnel have significant influence:

Accounting fees charged by Yellow Brick Road Accounting and Wealth Management Pty Limited (Mark Bouris) 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 were $335,087 (2009: $Nil). These fees included a substantial amount of 
additional work required regarding the lack of books and records and the need to recreate the ledgers for the 
company for the year ended 30 June 2009. Amounts payable, which are included in the totals above, as at 30 
June 2010 are $50,415 (2009: $Nil).

Total booking fees paid to The Surf Travel Company Holdings Pty Ltd (Mark Bouris) for travel expenses for the 
year ended 30 June 2010 was $165,353 which included booking fees of $1,571 (2009: $Nil). Additional 
commissions were paid directly to Surf Travel Company Holdings Pty Limited by the hotels and airlines providing 
the services.

Consultancy fees charged by IX Consulting Pty Limited (John Wilson) for the year ended 30 June 2010 were 
$107,526 (2009:$Nil)

The Directors and Officers Insurance Policy was arranged by YBR General Insurance Brokers Pty Limited (Mark 
Bouris) during the year ended 30 June 2010. The total premium paid was $57,532 which included a fee to YBR 
General Insurance Brokers Pty Limited of $7,500 (2009: $Nil)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

$ $

18. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(a) Reconciliation of Cash

For the purpose of the cash and cash equivalents in the balance 
sheet and cash flow statement, cash includes:

Cash at Bank 232,358 232,254

Deposit on Call                      -   333,564

232,358 565,818

     with ‘Net Loss from Continuing Operations’

Loss after Income Tax (26,347,322) (24,408,497)

Non-Cash Flows in Loss

Depreciation 987,281 977,515 

Amortisation of Intangibles         1,240,901 1,062,171 

Unrealised Exchange Loss/(Gain) 17,174 (22,796)

Share-Based Payments 2,341,668 2,294,221 

Interest accrued on convertible notes 4,978,297 4,108,810 

Doubtful Debts and Impairment Losses                      -   16,236,418 

Unrealised loss/(gain) in movement of fair value of derivative 
liability 6,158,048 (13,798,200)

Consolidated Entity

(b) Reconciliation of ‘Net Cash Flow used in Operating Activities’
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liability 6,158,048 (13,798,200)

Unrealised loss on conversion of convertible notes 5,627,277                    -   

Gain on settlement of debt for equity swap (1,108,279)                    -   

Changes in Assets and Liabilities

Increase in Trade Debtors (1,473,561) (1,862)

Increase in Prepayments and Other Debtors (174,401) (229,906)

Decrease/(Increase) in Work in Progress 119,714 (630,312)

Increase in Deferred Tax Asset (227,130) (294,763)

Increase in Creditors and Accruals 3,467,234 1,686,235 

Decrease in Employee Entitlements (5,645) (108,209)

Increase/(Decrease) in Deferred Tax Liability 46,575 (643,838)

Cash Flows Used in Operations (4,352,169) (13,773,013)

(i) Non-cash financing and investing activities  - for details of liabilities settled in shares refer to Note 1(x)(vi) and Note 
14.

86



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

19. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Description of Segments

PDT Holdings Inc

Telezygology Inc

Segment Reporting - Operating Segments at June 2010

PDT TZI Total

The group has adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments from 1 July 2009 whereby segment information is presented 
using a 'management approach', i.e. segment information is provided on the same basis as information used for 
internal reporting purposes by the chief operating decision maker.

The Consolidated entity’s predominant activities is the licensing of its patented intellectual property and operating 
software, as well as providing application engineering and technology development services to manufacturers in the 

automotive, aerospace and construction industries.

Management has determined the operating segments based on reports reviewed by the executive management 
committee for making strategic decision. The executive management committee comprises the executive directors, 
chief executive officer, chief financial officer and divisional managers. The committee monitors the business based on 
product and geographic factors and have identified two reportable segments.

PDT Group operates its engineering and design division predominantly in the USA, whilst maintaining a presence in 
the UK and the Ukraine. 

TZI’s primary role is the development and commercialisation of hardware and software products primarily in the US 
market. 

These reportable segments are same as the Financial Report for the Half-Year Ended 31 December 2009.
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PDT TZI Total

(USA) (USA) 2010

$ $ $

Segment revenue from external customers 16,608,409 1,007,694 17,616,103 

Inter-segment revenue 185,563 199,071 384,634 

Other income & revenue 21,972 (17,972) 4,000 

EBITDA 1,938,928 (2,565,477) (626,549)

Head office revenue / income 75,496 

Head office costs (18,727,738)

Depreciation & Amortisation (2,228,182)

Interest expenses (5,005,778)

Income tax benefit 165,429 

Net Loss for the period (26,347,322)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

19. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment Reporting - Operating Segments at June 2009

PDT TZI Total

(USA) (USA) 2009

$ $ $

Segment revenue from external customers 15,775,591 1,920,640 17,696,231 

Inter-segment revenue 1,136,693 630,666 1,767,359 

Other income & revenue 13,829 25,276 39,105 

EBITDA 1,364,767 (12,955,925) (11,591,158)

Head office revenue / income 14,868,035 

Head office costs (4,842,301)

Impairment loss (16,188,336)

Depreciation & Amortisation (2,039,686)

Interest expenses (4,169,214)

Income tax expense (445,838)

Net Loss for the period (24,408,498)

The executive management committee monitors segment performance based on EDITDA. This measure excludes non-
recurring expenditure such as restructuring costs and goodwill impairments and also excludes share-based payment 
expenses. This performance measure differs from the previous annual financial statements for the financial year ended 
30 June 2009 which reflected segment result based on net income before taxation.

No information is disclosed for segment assets and liabilities as no measure of segment assets or liabilities is regularly 
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Basis of accounting for transactions between segments

Entity wide disclosures

Major customers

Revenues of $6,579,421 (2009: $3,972,147) are derived from  one major customer of PDT (2009: two customers). 
Individually these revenues amount to more than 10% of the group's revenues from external customers.

Inter-segment revenue comprises sales between segments which are on arm's length terms. Segment revenues from 
external customers are measured in accordance with accounting policy 1(m).

No information is disclosed for segment assets and liabilities as no measure of segment assets or liabilities is regularly 
provided to the executive management committee with the exception of trade creditors which are circulated for cash 
flow planning purposes. This is permitted by an amendment to AASB 8 that is included in AASB 2009-5.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

20. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION $ $

Current assets 287,119 503,688 

Non-current assets 47,275,555 47,196,769 

Total assets 47,562,674     47,700,457 

Current liabilities 7,997,771 13,074,790 

Non-current liabilities 14,213,340                    -   

Total Liabilities 22,211,111     13,074,790 

Contributed equity 130,675,256 114,726,786 

Retained earnings / (accumulated losses) (105,323,694) (80,101,119)

Total equity 25,351,562     34,625,667 

Loss for the year (27,564,243) (46,100,819)

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year (27,564,243) (46,100,819)

21.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES & ASSETS

Contingent Assets

Litigation proceedings - Australia (a) 14,056,943 13,940,236 

Reimbursment from QVT of withholding tax(b) 582,259                    -   

Net Contingent Asset 14,639,202     13,940,236 

(a) A hearing is scheduled in the Supreme Court of New South Wales for 22 November 2010. The group is seeking to 
recover $13,230,536 loans to and receivables from directors and related entities, plus costs to 30 June 2010 of 
$826,406.  Due to the sensitive nature of the proceedings, further details can not be disclosed at this time. It is 
anticipated that significant additional costs will be incured between now and the completion of the Supreme Court 
Hearing. The costs are undetermined at this point in time. One of the defendents, Mr Andrew Sigalla, has recently been 
declared a bankrupt, however, the company does have the Court's leave to proceed with its claim. The contingent asset 
will remain in the accounts until the earlier of (i) a decision being handed down in the hearing that is due to commence 
in the Supreme Court;  and (ii) receipt of evidence that the bankrupt’s estate is not sufficient to satisfy the claim.

(b) Under the terms of the Convertible Note Subscription Deed, in the event that withholding tax is payable on any 
interest payments to QVT, TZ Limited is required to gross up the interest payments such that QVT receives the same 
amount of interest that would have been received if withholding tax was not applicable. Furthermore, the Deed provides 
that in the event that QVT receives a benefit, in the form of a tax credit, QVT will reimburse TZ Limited for this amount.

Parent Entity

The following details information related to the parent entity, TZ Limited, at 30 June 2010. The information presented 
here has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in Note 1. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

21.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES & ASSETS (continued)

Contingent Liabilities

(i) A Sigalla Claim

(ii) Bombard Technologies Inc. claim

22.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial Risk Management Policies

Treasury Risk Management

(iii) Security Deposit Claim against First National Bank of Joliet

PDT Holdings Inc (PDTH) sued the First National Bank of Joliet for collection of its security deposit in the amount of 
USD$44,566, plus costs of this suit. PDTH alleged breach of contract, conversion, unjust enrichment, and the IL 
Interest Act.  This suit came after much negotiation regarding the security deposit.  Discovery is complete and the 
parties will convene with the judge for a pre-trial conference on 18 October 2010.  If the pre-trial conference does not 
result in a settlement, the parties will set a trial date.

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of borrowings (including convertible notes), derivative financial 
liabilities, current accounts with banks, accounts receivable and payable.

Management considers on a regular basis the financial risk exposures and evaluates treasury management strategies 
in the context of the most recent economic conditions and forecasts.

The overall risk management strategy seeks to meet the Group’s financial targets, whilst minimising potential adverse 
effects on financial performance.

Management operates under policies approved by the Board of Directors who approve and review risk management 
policies on a regular basis. These include future cash flow requirements.

A claim was received by the Group from former director Andrew Sigalla in the amount of A$1,160,000 plus health care 
and related Visa costs which Mr Sigalla claims is owing to him and ZMS Investments Pty Limited. The claim is made in 
respect of Mr Sigalla's resignation as an employee in June 2009. A statement of claim has been received from the 
plaintiffs and the Group has filed a defence denying liability for the claim. Mr Sigalla is now a bankrupt and his trustee 
has not yet elected whether to proceed or not with the claim.

Product Development Technologies Inc (PDT) had commenced recovery action against Bombard Technologies Inc 
(Bombard) for unpaid work owing. Bombard filed a counterclaim for damages of USD$1,300,000 claiming that PDT had 
failed to meet specifications required by Bombard for the development of a recreational watercraft. PDT has chosen to 
defend the allegations, and Andreou & Casson Ltd, Illinois is the attorney appointed to the matter.The judge recently 
ordered that both parties re-plead their cases. PDT filed its amended complaint and Bombard has filed a Motion to 
Dismiss in response.  The parties are currently briefing this Motion to Dismiss and a ruling is set for 6 October 2010.  At 
the current time Bombard has not re-filed its counter-suit for breach of contract, but that may happen depending on 
what the outcome is of the Motion to Dismiss.  

(iv) Security for costs

QVT posted a security of $250,000 for costs on behalf of TZ Limited with the Supreme Court in relation to the hearing 
scheduled for November. The security will only become repayable to QVT if Mr Sigalla is awarded costs and the 
security is drawn upon as a result of the hearing. If this does not occur, the $250,000 will be refunded directly to QVT.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

22.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial Risk Exposures and Management

a) Market Risk

i) Interest Rate Risk 

Sensitivity Analysis

2010 2009

$ $

Change in Net Profit

Increase in interest rate (3,181) (6,626)

Decrease in interest rate 3,181 6,626 

Change in Equity

Increase in interest rate by (3,181) (6,626)

Decrease in interest rate by 3,181 6,626 

Consolidated Entity

The main risks the Group are exposed to through its financial instruments are market risk (interest rate risk & foreign 
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk arises from the use of interest bearing, tradeable and foreign currency financial instruments.  It is the risk 
that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates 
(interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (other price risk).

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through financial assets and financial liabilities. It is the Group’s policy to 
eliminate interest rate risk over the cash flows on its long-term debt finance through the use of fixed rate instruments. 

The Group invests surplus cash in term deposits with fixed returns.  The Board makes investment decisions after 
considering advice received from professional advisors.  

The group monitors its interest rate exposure continuously.

Sensitivity analysis of reasonable possible variances of +/- 1% in relation to interest rate risk the above risks is 
disclosed in the following table, all other variables held constant, the estimated impact on the post - tax profit and equity 
would have been:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

ii) Currency Risk

iii) Other Price Risk

Sensitivity Analysis

2010 2009

$ $

Change in Net Profit

Increase in share price by 10% 801,934 (328,200)

Decrease in share price by 10% (3,522,250) 316,200 

Change in Equity

Increase in share price by 10% 801,934 (328,200)

Decrease in share price by 10% (3,522,250) 316,200 

The Group's foreign exchange risk is managed to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet US financial commitments 
in a timely and cost-effective manner. The Group will continually monitor this risk and consider entering into forward 
foreign exchange, foreign currency swap and foreign currency option contracts if appropriate.

Foreign exchange risk arises from recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the functional 
currency of the company in which the assets and liabilities are recorded. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis 
and future cash flow requirement.

Sensitivity analysis of reasonable possible variances of 10% in the share price of TZ Limited is disclosed in the following 
table, all other variables held constant, the estimated impact on the post - tax profit and equity would have been:

The Group has derivative liabilties, the fair value of which is linked to the share price of TZ Limited. Price fluctuations that 
are inherent in such a share market impact the value of the liabilities.  

The Group’s policy is, where possible, to allow group entities to settle liabilities denominated in their functional currency 
with the cash generated from their own operations in that currency.  Where group entities have liabilities denominated in a 
currency other than their functional currency (and have insufficient reserves of that currency to settle them) cash already 
denominated in that currency will, where possible, be transferred from elsewhere within the Group . 

Creditors and debtors as at 30 June 2010 were reviewed to assess currency risk at year end. The value of transactions 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the respective subsidiary was insignifcant and therefore 
the risk was determined as immaterial.

Consolidated Entity
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

(b) Credit Risk

(i)   Only banks and financial institutions with an ‘A’ rating are utilised; and

Age analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting period:

Consolidated 2010
Total Amount 

Impaired

Amount not 

impaired

$ $ $

Not past due 3,218,496      -                     3,218,496      

Past due 30 days 385,613         22,899 362,714         

Past due 30 - 60 days 45,106           -                     45,106           

Past due 60 - 90 days 175,688         -                     175,688         

Past due 90 days+ 168,144         129,666 38,479           

Total 3,993,047      152,565         3,840,483      

Consolidated 2009
Total Amount 

Impaired

Amount not 

impaired

$ $ $

Not past due 1,803,733      56,283 1,747,450      

Past due 30 days 421,513         -                     421,513         

Past due 30 - 60 days 68,869           -                     68,869           

Past due 60 - 90 days -                     -                     -                     

Past due 90 days+ 202,083         72,993 129,090         

Total 2,496,198      129,276         2,366,922      

Management monitors credit risk by actively assessing the rating quality and liquidity of counter parties:

In respect of the parent entity it does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors 
under financial instruments entered into by the Company. Approximately one third of PDT's trade receivables balance at 
30 June 2010 was owed by one customer.

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to 
recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in 
the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements.

Credit risk is the potential that the Group will suffer a financial loss due to the unwillingness or inability of the counterparty 
to fully meet their contractual debts and obligations. Credit risk arises from both lending and trading activities.

(ii)   All potential customers are rated for credit worthiness taking into account their size, market position and financial 
standing;

In the US, trade receivables are monitored monthly and credit worthiness of customers are continually assessed to 
determine the credit risk exposed, bad debts are written off to the income statement only when all possibility of collection 
and enforcement been undertaken.

Receivables due from major debtors are not normally secured by collateral, however the credit worthiness of debtors is 
monitored.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

(c) Liquidity Risk

Financing arrangements

2010 2009

$ $

Bank loan (a)           741,356        1,292,467 

          632,585           167,387 

Bank loans
Total facilities:

Used at the end of the reporting period

Unused at the end of the reporting period
Bank loan

Consolidated Entity

(a) The credit facility has a limit of USD$1,200,000, however, the capacity is decreased as the amount of security 
decreases below USD$1,200,000. Security consists of accounts receivable less than 60 days old, and eligible receivables 
are subject to a 20% reduction in value.

Liquidity risk is the inability to access funds, both anticipated and unforeseen, which may lead to the Group being unable 
to meet its obligations in an orderly manner as they arise.

The Group liquidity position is managed to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet financial commitments in a timely 
and cost-effective manner. The Group is primarily funded through on-going cash flow, debt funding and capital raisings, 
as and when required.

The Group raised capital through the issue of convertible notes, with a fixed interest rate of 10% pa. Refer to notes 13 for 
details regarding the year end position of these notes. In accordance with resolution 9(a) from the 2009 AGM, the Group 
negotiated for the conversion of notes with a face value of $12,000,000 into fully paid ordinary shares. Furthermore, in 
accordance with resolutions 9(c), 9(d) and 9(e), a debt for equity swap was negotiated in relation to capitalised interest 
and expense reimbursements that were due to QVT. Refer to note 14 for further details regarding the conversion and debt 
for equity swap.

The following financing facilities were available to the group at the end of the reporting period:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

d) Fair Value

Fair value of derivative liabilities

(i)    days to maturity: Series I - 908 days ; Series II - 15 days; Series III - 1,758 days

(iii)  share price: $0.435

(iv)  exercise price: $0.390

(v)   expected volatility: 80% - 93.79%

(vii) risk free rate: 4.50%

For further information regarding the fair value of derivative liabilities refer to note 1(w)(ii)

Expected volatility was determined based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the derivative), as 
adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available information.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes.

The net fair values of cash and cash equivalents and non–interest bearing monetary financial assets and liabilities 
approximate their carrying values as disclosed in the statement of financial position and the notes to the financial 
statements.

Unless otherwise noted, the carrying value of all assets and liabilities approximate the fair value.

The fair value at grant date was determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the share 
price at grant date, expected exercise price, expected volatility, option life, expected dividends, the risk free rate and days 
to maturity. The inputs used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model for derivatives embedded in convertible notes as 
at 30 June 2010 were as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

23. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE $ $

Operating Lease Commitments Payable:

Not Later Than One Year 750,261 1,009,732 

Later Than One Year but Not Later Than Five Years 1,867,991 2,323,601 

Later Than Five Years                -   450,122 

2,618,252 3,783,455 

24. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 

New Loan Facility with QVT Fund LP and Quintessence Funds LP

Options & Rights Issues to the Directors

Conversion of Series II Convertible Notes

A total number of 1,480,000 rights were exercised by the Directors and 1,480,000 ordinary fully paid shares were issued on 19 
July 2010.

Consolidated Entity

The Group leases various premises under non-cancellable operating leases expiring between one and six years. All leases 
have annual CPI escalation clauses. The above commitments do not include any turnover rentals which are contingent upon 
the various Group companies achieving defined sales levels. Nor do they include commitments for any renewal options on 
leases. Lease terms usually run for 5 years with a 5 year renewal option. Lease conditions do not impose any restrictions on 
the ability of TZ Limited and its subsidiaries from borrowing further funds or paying dividends.

As announced on 28 June 2010 the company negotiated a secured loan facility with QVT Fund LP and Quintessence Funds 
LP for USD$4,100,000. The loan proceeds had been received in full by 28 July 2010.

The Company issued a total of 2,880,000 rights and 5,250,000 options under the Director and Executive Equity Plan on 7 July 
2010. The issue of rights and options was approved by shareholders at the Company's Annual General Meeting for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2009 that was held on 26 February 2010.  A share based payment has been recognised in the 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010. Refer Note 26.

According to the terms and conditions under the Convertible Note and Subscription Deed for the Series II Convertible Notes, 
3,918,500 Series II Convertible Notes with a total face value of $3,918,500 were converted to 10,000,924 ordinary shares on 
15 July 2010.

A further 90,000 Series II Convertible Notes with a total face value of $90,000 were converted to 228,836 ordinary shares on 
22 July 2010.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

24. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

Resolution of FutureWall Licence Dispute

2010 2009

25. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION $ $

Audit of the Parent Entity - Taylor’s & Co                -   10,705 

Audit and review of the Consolidated Entity - BDO 149,205         45,000 

Audit of the Controlled Entities        71,887         29,431 

The auditors received no other fees or benefits.

(vii) The QVT Loan contains a number of representations, warranties and undertakings from the Company and TZI to 
the QVT Funds.  These representations, warranties and undertakings are usual for loan facilities of this type.  
Furthermore, it is an event of default if the QVT Funds elect to convert the principal and interest under the loan into 
convertible notes on the basis set out above and the necessary shareholder approvals to enable that to occur are not 
obtained at the Company's annual general meeting of shareholders to be held in respect of the financial year ended 30 
June 2010.  

Loan Agreement Summary:

The company successfully resolved a long standing dispute between TZI and Techbuilt Interiors Pty Limited in relation to a 
licence of rights pertaining to TZI's FutureWall System granted by TZI to Techbuilt. As a consequence of the settlement, a 
joint venture has been formed, Intanova Pty Limited, which will leverage the existing awareness and acceptance of the 
FutureWall System in the marketplace and will carry on the business of marketing, supply and installation of interior fit-out 
solutions in Australia and New Zealand.

Telezygology Inc. holds a 50% interest in Intanova Pty Limited by being the registered owner of 2,000,002 of the 4,000,004 
ordinary class shares on issue.

ASX waiver regarding listing rule 10.1

On 12 July 2010 the ASX granted a waiver to the company in relation to compliance with listing rule 10.1. In granting its 
decision, the ASX requested that a summary of the material terms of the loan agreement be included in each annual report so 
long as the loan agreement exists:

(iv)The Company has guaranteed TZI's obligations under the QVT Loan.  

(vi) Under the terms of the QVT Loan, the QVT Funds can, in certain circumstances, request that the Company take all 
reasonable actions necessary (including seeking any necessary shareholder approval) to issue convertible notes to 
the QVT Funds having a total face value equal to the principal plus any accrued or owing interest in way of repayment 
of the principal and interest owing under the QVT Loan.

(iii)The Loan Facility is repayable on 19 February 2013.  

QVT Fund LP and Quintessence Fund L.P. (the "QVT Funds") lent USD$4,100,000 to Telezygology Inc. ("TZI") under a 
loan deed (the "QVT Loan") dated 13 July 2010.  The material terms of the QVT Loan are as follows:

(i) The purpose of the QVT Loan is for the purpose of working capital expenses, to expand the TZI’s current operations 
and to fund new business initiatives related to the existing lines of business of TZI and its related entities.   

(ii) The QVT Loan is subject to an interest rate of 10% per annum. Interest is payable annually in arrears with the first 
payment due 31 December 2010.

(v) The Loan Facility is secured by a first ranking charge over all of the assets of the Company (other than the 
Company’s shares in its subsidiaries Product Development Technologies Inc. and PDT Holdings, Inc.).  

Consolidated Entity
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

2010 2009

26. SHARE - BASED PAYMENTS $ $

Share-based payment expense recognised during the financial year:

Cash-settled                -                   -   

Options issued to employees 93,192 2,294,221 

Options issued under Director & Executive Equity Plan 622,563                 -   

Rights issued under Director & Executuve Equity Plan 1,592,148                 -   

Options issued for other compensation 33,765                 -   

2,341,668 2,294,221 

Director and Executive Equity Plan  

There were three tranches of options granted to the Directors during the year.  Each option, when validly exercised, entitles 
the holder to received one fully paid share in the company. The first tranche of options will be exercisable in the period from 1 
July 2011 to 30 June 2016 at an exercise price of $1.00 per option.  The second tranche of options will be exercisable in the 
period from 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2017 at an exercise price of $2.00 per option.  The third tranche of options will be 
exercisable in the period from 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2018 at an exercise price of $3.00 per option.

Consolidated Entity

The Director & Executive Equity Plan ("DEEP") was approved by shareholders at 2009 Annual General Meeting that was held 
on 26 February 2010.  It gives directors and senior executives the opportunity to participate in the plan.  There were three 
tranches of options and two tranches of rights granted to the directors during the year.  Each tranche of options has a fixed 
number granted with vesting periods from 1 to 3 years from the end of current financial year.  Each tranche of rights also has 
a fixed number granted with the first tranche vesting immediately and the second to vest on 1 July 2011.

The rights granted to the Directors are at a zero exercise price, which entitle the holder to acquire fully paid ordinary shares in 
the company, without payment.  Each right entitles the holder to acquire one fully paid ordinary share in the company.  In the 
case of the second tranche of rights, the satisfaction of a performance hurdle must be satisfied before the rights can be 
exercised.  

A total of 5,700,000 options and 3,000,000 rights were granted to the Directors under the Director & Executive Equity Plan 
during the year.  A further 150,000 options were issued to Mr Howard Todd Horberg as compensation in relation to a dispute. 
In addition some options issued to employees in prior periods continued to vest during the current period and hence a share 
based payment expense was recognised. Consequently an amount of $2,341,669 in share based payment expense (2009: 
$2,294,221) was recognised in the income statement for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Options issued to employees are at the discretion of Executive Management, terms are variable and decided at the time of 
issue, and no formal plan exists.

Recognition of Share - Based Payments Expense
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

26. SHARE–BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Grant Date
Exercise 

Price

Opening 

Balance

Granted 

During the 

Year

Forfeited 

During the 

Year

Vested 

During the 

Year

Exercised 

During 

the Year

Expired 

During the 

Year

Balance at 

End of Year

Exercisable 

at the End of 

Year

26/02/2010 $1.00                -   1,900,000 (150,000)                 -                -                       -       1,750,000                    -   

26/02/2010 $2.00                -   1,900,000 (150,000)                 -                -                       -       1,750,000                    -   

26/02/2010 $3.00                -   1,900,000 (150,000)                 -                -                       -       1,750,000                    -   

               -   5,700,000 (450,000)                 -                -                       -   5,250,000                    -   

   3,503,874 150,000      (260,833)                 -                -        (1,000,000)     2,393,041       2,393,041 

   3,503,874     5,850,000      (710,833)                   -                -      (1,000,000)     7,643,041       2,393,041 

3.80 1.97 4.62 3.78 2.52 3.80

Rights

26/02/2010 $0.00                -   1,480,000                  -   1,480,000              -                       -       1,480,000       1,480,000 

26/02/2010 $0.00                -   1,520,000 (120,000)                 -                -                       -       1,400,000                    -   

               -   3,000,000 (120,000) 1,480,000              -                       -   2,880,000 1,480,000 

               -                    -                    -                   -                -                       -                    -                      -   

               -                    -                    -                   -                -                       -                    -                      -   

5,255,249   (1,751,375)     3,503,874       3,503,874 

5,255,249                  -   (1,751,375)                 -                -                       -   3,503,874 3,503,874

            3.82                  -                5.68                 -                -                       -                3.80                3.80 

Rights Weighted Average 

Exercise Price

Total Rights

The weighted average fair value of rights granted during the year was $0.84. Fair value was calculated as with options above.

30 June 2009

DEEP Options

Other Options

Total Options

Options Weighted 

Average Exercise Price

Details of all options and rights outstanding during the financial year are as follows:

Options Weighted 

Average Exercise Price

DEEP Options 

Other Options

Total Options

30 June 2010
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

26. SHARE–BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Fair value of options granted

(i)    expiry periods:  from 1 - 5 years after vesting dates

(ii)   grant date: 26/02/2010 and 5/03/2010

(iii)  share price at grant date: 84 cents, being the deemed fair value at the grant date

(iv)  exercise price: from $1.00 to $3.00

(v)   expected volatility: 77.39% to 99.92%

(vi)  expected dividend yield: 0.00%

(vii) risk free rate: 4.50%

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year are as follows:

Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise 

Price

Number of 

Options

18-Jan-08 18-Jan-11 $3.75 100,000

18-Jan-08 19-Jan-11 $3.75 195,000

20-Jan-08 20-Jan-11 $3.00 149,000

8-Feb-08 7-Feb-11 $6.00 75,000

1-Jan-08 31-Dec-10 $6.00 310,125

24-Oct-08 24-Oct-11 $2.50 850,000

Jan 08 to Aug 08 Jan 11 to Aug 11 $6.00 116,666

Feb 07 to Jan 08 May 11 to Feb 13 $3.75 - $6.00 90,000

Jan 08 to Nov 08 Nov 11 to Dec 11 $6.00 142,250

24-Oct-08 24-Oct-11 $2.50 150,000

15-May-09 15-May-12 $2.50 65,000

5-Mar-10 5-Mar-11 $1.00 150,000

26-Feb-10 30-Jun-16 $1.00 1,750,000

26-Feb-10 30-Jun-17 $2.00 1,750,000

26-Feb-10 30-Jun-18 $3.00 1,750,000

7,643,041

Exercised During the Year

No share options were exercised during the financial year.  However, 1,480,000 rights granted during the year were issued on 
7 July 2010 and exercised on 19 July 2010.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at 30 June 2010 was 5.09 years (2009: 1.49 
years).

The following reconciles the outstanding share options and rights granted for share based payments at the beginning and end 
of the financial year:

Expected volatility was determined based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the option), as adjusted for 
any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available information.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was 60 cents.  The fair value at grant date was determined 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the share price at grant date, exercise price, expected 
volatility, option life, expected dividends, the risk free rate, vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the fact that 
the options are not tradeable. The inputs used for the Black-Scholes option pricing model for options granted during the year 
ended 30 June 2010 were as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

27. GROUP DETAILS

Country of 

Incorporation

Class of 

Shares

2010 2009

Telezygology, Inc. 100 100 USA Ordinary

PDT Holdings, Inc. 100 100 USA Ordinary

Product Development Technologies, Inc. 100 100 USA Ordinary

PDT Tooling, Inc. 100 100 USA Ordinary

PDT Southeast Limited Liability Company (LLC)** 100 100 USA Ordinary

CJSC PDT Ukraine 90 90 Ukraine Ordinary

The registered office of the Group is: 

TZ Limited (TZL)

Level 11, 1 Chifley Square

Sydney NSW 2000

Australia

The principal place of business is: 

Telezygology Inc. (TZI)

520 W. Erie Street

Suite 100

Chicago, Illinois 60654

USA

PDT Holdings, Inc. (PDT Group)

One Corporate Drive

Suite 110

Lake Zurich, Illinois 60047

USA

% Owned

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of TZ Limited and the subsidiaries listed below.

**(An LLC is treated as a partnership for US purposes)
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TZ LIMITED AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
ABN 26 073 979 272

DECLARATION BY DIRECTORS 

The directors of the company declare that:

1.

(a) comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2010 and of its performance 
for the year ended on that date.

2.

3.

4.

5.

The financial statements, comprising the statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position, 
statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and: 

In the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable. 

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officers of Telezygology Inc and PDT Holdings 
Inc and the chief financial officer of Telezygology Inc and PDT Holdings Inc, as required by section 295A.

The remuneration disclosures in pages 35 to 44 of the Directors Report (as part of the audited remuneration report) 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act.

The Company has included in the notes to the financial statements an explicit and unreserved statement of 
compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Mark Bouris

Director

Kenneth Ting

Director

30 September 2010

Inc and the chief financial officer of Telezygology Inc and PDT Holdings Inc, as required by section 295A.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf of the 
directors by:
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In the event that the consolidated entity is unable to continue as a going concern, it may be 
required to realise its assets and liabilities other than in the normal course of business and at 
amounts different to those currently recorded in the financial statements. The financial 
report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of 
recorded asset amounts or to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be 
necessary should the consolidated entity not continue as a going concern. 

 
Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 35 to 44 of the directors’ report 
for the year ended 30 June 2010. The directors of the company are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of 
the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration 
Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Qualified Auditor’s Opinion 

Because of the limitation on the scope of our work, as described in the preceding paragraphs 
relating to our audit of the financial report, and the effects of such adjustments, if any, that 
might have been determined to be necessary had the limitation not existed, we are not in a 
position to, and do not, express an opinion on the comparatives for 2009. 

In our opinion, except for the effect on the remuneration report of the matter referred to in 
the preceding paragraph, the Remuneration Report of TZ Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2010 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 
BDO Audit (NSW-VIC) Pty Limited 

 

 

Sydney, 30 September 2010 



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

Principle 1: Lay Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight

(i) establishing corporate governance, and ethical, business standards;

(ii) setting objectives, goals and strategic direction with a view to maximise shareholder value;

(iii) approving and monitoring budgets and major investments;

(iv) ensuring adequate internal controls exist and are appropriately monitored;

(v) ensuring significant business risks are identified and appropriately managed; and 

(vi) appointing the CEO and monitoring the CEO's performance.  

Principle 2: Structure the Board to Add Value

The composition of this Board is determined using the following principles:

(ii) Directors are subject to re-election by rotation at least every three years.

Director Appointed Non-Executive Independent

Mark Bouris 18-Jun-09 No No

Kenneth Ting 18-Jun-09 No No

Dickory Rudduck 14-May-10 No No

The skills and experience of each director is set out in the director’s report in the 2010 annual financial report.  

The areas of divergence with recommended principles are set out below:

(i) The majority of Directors are not independent as they are all executive directors.   

(ii) The Chairman is not independent and is an Executive Director

Mr Bouris is standing for re-election by rotation at the 2010 annual general meeting.  Mr Rudduck was appointed by the 
Board during the year to fill a vacancy on the board and is subject to re-election by the shareholders at the annual general 
meeting for the financial year ended 30 June 2010.  

(iii) The Company does not have a formally constituted Nomination Committee.  When a vacancy exists on the 
Board or where it is considered that a director with particular skills or experience is required, the board selects a 
panel of candidates with the appropriate expertise and experience from which the most suitable candidate is 
appointed on merit.  

(iv) The Company does not have a formal process for evaluating the performance of the Board and the individual 
Directors.  

The Board has formally reviewed the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations issued by the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council in December 2007.  The Company is a small company and accordingly the Directors 
consider that many of the corporate governance guidelines intended to apply to larger companies are not practical. The 
Company's position on those recommendations is set out below;

The Board's primary responsibility is to oversee the Company's business activities and management for the benefit of 
shareholders which it accomplishes by:

The Board has delegated responsibilities and authorities to management to enable management to conduct the 
Company's day to day activities. Matters which are not covered by these delegations, such as approvals which exceed 
certain limits, require Board approval.

Apart from the statements on responsibility above, the Company has not formalised the functions reserved to the Board 
and those delegated to management due to the relatively small size of the Company.  Similarly, the Company has not 
adopted a formal process for evaluating the performance of senior executives for the reasons outlined above.  The 
performance of senior executives takes place at meetings of the Board.  

(i) Directors appointed by the Board by reason of a vacancy are subject to re-election by shareholders at the 
following annual general meeting 

The names of the Directors in office at the date of this Report, the date they were appointed and their status as Non-
Executive, Executive or Independent Directors are set out in the table below:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

The above areas of divergence are due to the relatively small size of the Company and its operations.  

Each Director of the Company has the right to seek independent professional advice at the expense of the Company.

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making

The Directors, senior executives and employees are required not to deal in Company shares:

(ii) Whilst in possession of price sensitive information.

Principle 4: Safeguard Integrity in Financial Reporting

(ii) Review the Company’s internal financial control system and risk management systems.

(iii) Appoint the external auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure

Principle 6: Respects the Rights of Shareholders

Board members, executive management and Company officers are made aware of the requirements to follow corporate 
policies and procedures, to obey the law and to maintain appropriate standards of honesty and integrity at all times.  

The Company does not have a formal written code of conduct to guide compliance with legal and other obligations. This 
reflects the Company's size which makes its legal compliance a less onerous task than with larger companies. The Board 
of Directors continues to review the situation to determine the most appropriate and effective operational procedures.

The Company does not have a formal written policy concerning trading in company securities by directors, senior 
executives and employees, reflecting the Company's small size and the close interaction of the small number of 
individuals throughout the organisation. However the Directors, senior executives and employees are aware of their legal 
obligations and the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders.  

(i) Except between three and 30 days after either the release of the Company's half year and annual results to the 
Australian Securities Exchange, the annual general meeting or any major announcement.

Directors are required to give prior notice to the chairman of any dealings in Company securities by themselves or their 
associates and to provide particulars of any transaction immediately following execution.  The secretary is to make the 
requisite notifications to ASX within 2 days of each such transaction.  

The Company was not a Company required by ASX Listing Rule 12.7 to have an Audit Committee during the year.  The 
board has determined that, due to the relatively small size of the Company, it would not be efficient to appoint a formal 
audit committee.  Nevertheless, the Board has adopted procedures to adequately address issues related to the integrity of 
the Company’s financial reporting and to oversee the independence of the external auditors.  The procedures include the 
following main responsibilities: 

(i) Monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Company and review significant financial reporting changes. 

(iii) Monitor and review the external auditor’s independence, objectivity and effectiveness, taking into consideration 
relevant professional and regulatory requirements. 
(iv) Develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services, taking 
into account relevant ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit services by the external audit firm.

The skills and experience of each director is set out in the Director’s Report in the annual financial report for the year 
ended 30 June 2010.  

The Company and its Directors are aware of continuous disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules and 
Corporations Act and operate in an environment where strong emphasis is placed on full and appropriate disclosure. The 
Company has formal written policies regarding disclosure which is publicly available on the Company’s website.  

The Company does not have a communications strategy to promote effective communication with shareholders, as it 
believes this is excessive for small companies. The Company maintains a website which is used in conjunction with timely 
announcements to the ASX to ensure shareholders are kept fully informed.
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The Company also aims to ensure that the shareholders are informed of all major developments through:

(i) Despatch of the annual and half yearly financial reports.

(ii) Despatch of all notices of meetings of shareholders.

The Company requests the external auditor to attend the general meeting.

Principle 7: Recognise and Manage Risk

Principle 8: Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly

Because of the relatively small size of the Company and its operations, the Board does not consider it appropriate, at this 
time, to form a separate committee to deal with executive remuneration.  The Board as a whole establishes and reviews 
annually the remuneration of the executive directors, senior executives and employees. 

Details of the Company's policy for determining the nature and amount of emoluments of Board members and senior 
Executives of the Company are contained in the Directors' report.

In accordance with Corporations Act requirements, the Company discloses the fees or salaries paid to all Directors, and 
Executive Officers of the Company.

The Company has received assurances from the persons who perform the function of chief financial officer (or equivalent) 
and chief executive officer (or equivalent)in relation to the group that the declaration under section 295A of the 
Corporations Act is founded on a system of risk management and internal control which is operating effectively in all 
material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.  

(iii) Submitting to a vote of shareholders proposed major changes in the consolidated entity which may impact on 
share ownership rights.

The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at the annual general meeting to ensure high level of 
accountability and identification of the consolidated entity's strategic goals. Important issues are presented to the 
shareholders as single resolutions.

The Board has adopted the role of identification, assessment, monitoring and managing the significant areas of risk 
applicable to the consolidated entity and its operations.  The Board has not established a separate committee to deal with 
these matters as the directors consider the size of the Company and its operations does not warrant a separate 
committee at this time.  The directors have identified the significant areas of risk applicable to the consolidated entity and 
its operations and the board considers the matter of risk management as a standing agenda item at board meetings.  

For the reasons set out above the company has not established formal policies on risk management.  The Board 
endeavours to mitigate any risks by continually reviewing the activities of the Company in order to identify key business 
and operational risks and ensuring that they are appropriately assessed and managed.  
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Statement of Quoted Securities as at 31 August 2010

There are 2,751 shareholders holding a total of 74,915,277 ordinary fully paid shares. 

The twenty largest shareholders between them hold 57.35% of the total shares on issue.

Distribution of Quoted Shares and Options as at 31 August 2010

Shares Range Number of Holders

1 - 1,000 999

1,001 - 5,000 1,005

5,001 - 10,000 276

10,001 - 100,000 383

100,001 - and over 88

Total holders 2,751

Substantial Shareholdings

Ordinary

Shareholders Number Percentage

Deutsche Bank AG London <QVT> 13,250,000 17.69%

The Gallagher Group !"# 5,394,902 7.20%

18,644,902 24.89%

Directors’ Shareholdings

Ordinary Unquoted Unquoted

Director Shares Options Rights

M Bouris 800,000 3,000,000 800,000

K Ting 672,725 2,250,000 600,000

Dickory Rudduck 992,498 10,000 Nil

On-Market Buy-Backs

There is no on - market buy back currently in place.

Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows.  This 
information is current as of 31 August 2010.

Voting rights are that on a show of hands each member present in person or by proxy or attorney or representative shall have one 
vote and upon a poll every member so present shall have one vote for every fully paid share held and for each partly paid share 
held shall have a fraction of a vote pro–rata to the amount paid up on each partly paid share relative to its issue price.

The following shareholders have notified the Company that, pursuant to the provisions of section 671 B of the Corporations Act 
2001, they are substantial shareholders.

Fully Paid Ordinary Shares

(a) A notice of initial substantial shareholder was received from Mr Lindsay Gallagher and other parties known as the 
"Gallagher Group" on 9 August 2009. No update has been received since this notification. The quantity presented 
above was the shareholding in accordance with the notification.

As at 31 August 2010, Directors of the Company held a relevant interest in the following securities on issue by the Company.
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Top Twenty Holders of Ordinary Shares at 31 August 2010

Shareholder Name Number of Shares Held % of Total

DEUTSCHE BANK AG LONDON <QVT> 13,250,000 17.69

NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 9,069,222 12.11

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 3,879,589 5.18

ACUMENT GLOBAL TECHNOLOGIES INC 3,613,637 4.82

NGP INVESTMENTS (NO 2) PTY LIMITED 2,035,450 2.72

DROOGDOK PARITICIPATIES B V 1,546,627 2.06

ANZ NOMINEES LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C> 1,062,787 1.42

MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) 1,055,764 1.41

MR JOHN MICHAEL BOUWMAN + MS AMANDA LOUISE MITCHELL 903,641 1.21

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 874,026 1.17

MR PATRICK CHEW 831,711 1.11

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED-GSCO ECA 811,577 1.08

MARK LEIGH BOURIS 800,000 1.07

679,543 0.91

MRVD HOLDINGS B.V./C 637,897 0.85

MR KENNETH TING 600,000 0.80

MR MARTIN PATRICK MCMANUS 589,294 0.79

MR AMANPREET SINGH KHAIRA 456,465 0.61

445,000 0.59

MRS ELSIE MAY SIDWELL 433,689 0.58

43,575,919 58.18

Voting Rights

All shares have equal voting rights.

MR LINDSAY JAMES GALLAGHER + MRS ESME GALLAGHER <BROANN 
SUPER FUND A/C>

MR RAMON KARANGIS + MRS JULIE KARANGIS <KARANGIS SUPER FUND 
A/C>

Note the above list does not identify related party holdings, readers should have regards to substantial shareholders notices and 
Directors declarations.
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